

Strengthening the Sustainability, Quality and Competitiveness of Irish Higher Education: Trends and Propositions to Provoke Debate

Tom Boland and Ellen Hazelkorn 21 March 2022

Table of Contents

Ех	ecutiv	e Summary4
	Macro	Trends In Higher Education Internationally4
	Implic Wider	ations Of Trends And National Policy For The Future Of Irish Higher Education And The Tertiary Education System
	Propos	sitions For The Future Development Of The Policy Framework For Higher Education9
1.	Intr	oduction And Overview14
	1.1	Introduction14
	1.2	Context14
2.	Ма	cro-Trends Impacting Or Expected To Impact On Higher Education In The Future 16
	2.1	Demography and the Global Talent Pool17
	2.2	Shifting Geography of Research, Development and Innovation (RDI)18
	2.3	Technological progress and implications for skills and jobs
	2.4	Internationalisation and Student Mobility21
	2.5	Equity, Access & Active Ageing22
	2.6	Digitalisation and the Pedagogical Revolution24
	2.7	Steering and Funding the System25
	2.8	Public Trust and Civic Engagement27
3. Eq	Ext. uippe	ent To Which The Irish Experience And Policy Framework Are Aligned With, And d To Respond To, International Trends And Developments
	3.1	Factors Influencing the expansion of Irish HEIs and research
	3.2	Irish Policy Framework34
4. Ec	Imp lucatic	olications Of Trends And National Policy For The Future Direction Of Higher on In Ireland, And The Wider Tertiary Education System
	4.1 being	The international higher education landscape is increasingly competitive and open to shaped by geo-political factors and other disruptive events
	4.2	Steering the Higher Education System37
	4.3 demog	Ireland is privileged by student demand but this is forestalling closer scrutiny of graphic and learner trends
	4.4	Time to rethink the model of education provision for "high participation societies"40
	4.5	How do we plan for the future if we don't know what we are doing42
	4.6	Ireland is playing catch-up in the digital revolution43
	4.7	Achieving a well-functioning national research system44

4	.8	Being placed-based and globally-competitive4	5	
4	.9	Strengthening the steering core and academic heartland4	7	
4	.10	It is time to recognise the contribution of private higher education4	8	
4	.11	Further Education and Training (FET)5	0	
4	.12	Ensuring a more co-ordinated tertiary system5	51	
4	.13	But what about funding the system?5	52	
5. Propositions For The Future Development Of The Policy Framework For Higher Education With A Particular Focus On The Development Of An Integrated And Cohesive				
Jys				
6.	Abb	reviations & Glossary5	9	
7.	Endi	notes	0	

Strengthening the Sustainability, Quality and Competitiveness of Irish Higher Education: Trends and Propositions to Provoke Debate

Executive Summary

Macro Trends In Higher Education Internationally

The following is a summary of the trends internationally set out later in this paper that are likely to be most impactful on higher education in Ireland and internationally -

- The economic and political environment over recent years has increased the imperatives around higher education. More people have an interest in higher education and there are accordingly a growing and wider range of different interests to which it must respond. This is also a time when governments are facing competing demands for state-led initiatives with respect to health and social services, labouractivation and other safety-net initiatives, economic supports and stimulus programmes. In addition to national and international/geopolitical events, such as the Russian invasion of Ukraine, these developments will likely impact on the resources available to higher education.
- The Covid-19 pandemic and its social and economic consequences are likely to accelerate pre-existing trends, expose underlying weaknesses in higher education systems and, on a more positive note, open up opportunities.
- Higher education has become a global enterprise. and the growth of the global and geopolitical significance of universities has been transformative in recent decades. This is reflected, *inter alia*, in the competition for talent globally.
- The higher education and research landscape is changing. It is both more collaborative but also more competitive.
- The Fourth Industrial Revolution is likely to have a transformative effect on how people live, work and interact with other people and things in the future. Climate change is also a significant factor in terms of the way in which new policies and regulations will impact on both enterprises and consumers.
- The composition of the learner cohort is becoming more diverse according to socioeconomic circumstances, age, gender and race/ethnicity and drawing in students who are first-in-family and/or adult learners with implications for equity, access and active ageing.
- The digital transformation has implications for the development of a next-generation learning environment and equipping learners with the relevant knowledge and skills. It also opens up opportunities for greater collaboration in research, engagement, internationalisation, professional development, etc.

- Higher education is in the process of a learning revolution. Even before the Covid-19 pandemic moved teaching and learning on-line, the pedagogical landscape was changing. The digital revolution is one aspect of these changes which also includes changes in teaching and learning, and new forms and formats of qualifications.
- As the role of education in national development and personal opportunity has become more important, there is increased emphasis on oversight and regulation; alignment between what educational institutions do with national objectives; and monitoring and reporting.
- Increased emphasis on the civic responsibilities of universities, and the role they play with regard to sharing knowledge and the outcomes of knowledge for the public good, for example in their response to the SDGs, and in their communities through collaborative partnerships.

Implications Of Trends And National Policy For The Future Of Irish Higher Education And The Wider Tertiary Education System

It is time to rethink the model of Irish higher education provision

Near universal participation in tertiary education has been a huge achievement for Ireland. Yet, despite this expansion, the model of education provision has remained relatively unchanged as if it was still a system catering to a small elite. Much more radical thinking is required as to how we design, organise, deliver and assess higher education and its relationship to other forms of tertiary education and training. For example –

Educational policy and the structure of education programmes are based on full-time study and too much attention is given to staff-student ratios which reflect a romantic idea of small groups of class-room based learners – whereas mass participation higher education is eroding this model.

The academic year continues to run primarily from September to May. There is no educational reason for these practices and it is an inefficient use of expensive infrastructure and human resources. Changes to facilitate learners who wish to adjust their study to fit in with changing life circumstances and/or to reduce the opportunity cost of education, including the introduction of a third/summer semester, would be easy wins.

Boundaries between the workplace or community as a learning site and HEIs are becoming more porous and this should be accelerated. Credit transfer systems and digital credentialing can facilitate mobility and allow learners to accumulate credits over time according to their circumstances.

Greater commitment to flexibility and responsiveness is required. Students should be empowered to tailor their entry, exit, assessment and qualifications to their personally determined needs rather than being required to fit a standardised model. To better reflect the flexible tertiary system we want and require, the funding model for our institutions needs to change to both reflect and drive changed circumstances and objectives.

We need a comprehensive higher education management information system

Good strategic management of the higher education and research system relies upon having a reliable and common information system. Without a system for collecting, processing, analysing and reporting on data (qualitative and quantitative) it is extremely difficult to know how well Ireland, and its institutions, are doing and to plan accordingly. Essentially Ireland collects bits of information but it is all held in different systems controlled by different departments and agencies, and the systems do not communicate with each other.

While DFHERIS has launched a public consultation with respect to a National Research Classification System, and the IUA is looking at data capacity and metrics, none of these actions suggest a joined-up strategic approach to critical infrastructure. The absence of a comprehensive approach to information and data severely undermines the level of strategic governance appropriate for national or institutional level decision-making and strategic planning. The EU pledge to establish a European Higher Education Sector Observatory to combine existing "EU data tools and capacities in one single place...." is potentially very significant. Ireland would do well to draw lessons and inspiration from this decision.

Ireland is playing catch-up in the digital revolution

Irish HEIs have rightly won praise for rapidly changing their educational format from oncampus to on-line in response to Covid. But an emergency response is not equivalent to highquality on-line or blended learning.

Open and distance learning is its own unique learning culture. But, there should be no significant quality difference between distance teaching and classroom instruction in achieving student learning outcomes, A blended physical and on-line learning environment, underpinned by innovative pedagogical principles, is likely to be attractive to a wider range of learners and meet student expectations and needs.

However, digital transformation is more than teaching and learning. It concerns the entire way in which HEIs use digital technologies to innovate, simplify, and improve, to aid student achievement and enhance the student experience, support the academic endeavour and research as well as strengthen strategic planning and decision-making.

Any chance of competing successfully in the 21st century requires a step-change in Ireland's approach to ODL. A systemic and strategic approach will be necessary rather than each institution developing its own approach and competing with each other. Achieving high-quality ODL is not however a cheap(er) option nor should quality be sacrificed for efficiency.

We need a well-functioning national research system

The Irish research, science and innovation landscape has been transformed in the years since the millennium. The research base has expanded significantly with evidence of critical mass as well as pockets of excellence. The underlying ambition of research policy in the State has been towards positioning Ireland's research system as a European, even a global, leader. Our economic sustainability requires nothing less.

While Covid-19 has had a positive effect on how people view science and scientific discovery, there is a risk that excessive focus on medical and biological science will be at the expense of a more holistic approach to research and innovation. The social sciences, humanities and cultural disciplines are critical to our understanding of how we are going to live with, and resolve, global challenges. Some approaches that present themselves include more focus on clustering and challenge-based collaborative centres, efforts to achieve a better balance between social and technological innovation and building a sustainable researcher pipeline to strengthen Ireland's attractiveness to international researchers. We also need to think about the way in which research is assessed. Where and how we invest limited funds and issues of equality, diversity and inclusion of people and disciplines are critical to success.

A genuine commitment by HEIs to open access and open science, which incorporates the public sector and public libraries, should be a core feature of the research system. Facilitating the widest possible access to this research infrastructure is essential to achieve the greatest return on investment and value for money for the country and for the research community.

Heretofore, Ireland has had individual agency strategies. Without an integrated national policy and research system Ireland will continue to struggle. The creation of a government department covering further and higher education, research, innovation and science is especially timely and can only enhance effectiveness and efficiencies and strengthen higher education-based research with clear regard to the broader needs of the sector, the individual institutions and overall national policy.

Higher education needs to be place-based

Higher education has a very large role to play in helping build sustainable communities. *Project Ireland 2040: National Development Plan 2018-2027* identifies the importance of education and skills not only for attracting FDI but strengthening Irish SMEs and contributing to social and cultural life throughout the country. There is a huge inter-dependence between economic growth and innovation, and knowledge and skills, the latter of which derive from, and depend upon, people with skills relevant to regional and national economies. In their regional impact, HEIs make an enormous contribution to all the social, cultural, intellectual and environmental aspects of society and play an indispensable role in helping communities overcome the multiple challenges they face.

The role of HEIs as anchor institutions in their regions, and the societal impact and benefit that derives, are increasingly used as measures of quality and excellence as well as a differentiator in the competitive HE landscape. The appointment and promotion system, including the indicators used to evaluate university performance and research, should be revised to fully recognise the value and diversity of academic contribution to place across all disciplines.

..... and globally-competitive

On the international level, understanding the totality of the value and benefits that derives from transnational cooperation forms a key aspect of the EU *Strategy for Universities* and the *Council Recommendation on building bridges for effective European education cooperation*. Irish policy remains one of seeing international students as "cash cows" with an emphasis on cost effectiveness and economic impacts.

But, focusing primarily on growing international students as a percentage of total enrolments misses a bigger picture. Ireland can begin by embracing the structural and operational issues that can unblock barriers to transnational cooperation by, inter alia, changing quality assurance arrangements to more easily enable the delivery and recognition of joint educational programmes and joint degrees, etc.

Internationalisation needs to move from the periphery to becoming a core activity of higher education. The benefits of the global and intercultural must become genuinely embedded holistically across the whole institution as a learning outcome for all. We should stimulate global learning for all by paying more attention to the internationalization of the curriculum, embracing COIL (collaborative on-line learning), internationalizing teacher and foreign language education, and integrating internationalization initiatives with other efforts to reach the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

We need to strengthen the steering core and academic heartland

A university's greatest asset is the quality of its people. While much discussion about challenges focusses on senior leadership, we tend to ignore that some of the heaviest lifting is undertaken by heads of school or department or similar posts across academic and research management. HEIs would not exist without their academics and researchers – who are the "academic heartland". They are responsible, at a very practical day-to-day level, for dealing with the pressures of a mass and diverse system, on-going challenges associated with resources and resourcing and emergency responses to Covid-19. Changes in the student cohort and the way in which education provision is organised is impacting on the academic profession.

Administrative, technical, maintenance and professional staff are too frequently overlooked – sometimes by other university colleagues. Yet, these are core to the ability of an HEI to

successfully achieve its mission and ambitions. As such, they should be seen as co-equal partners in achieving the academic mission of the institutions.

Ironically, we probably spend more time talking about HEIs producing human capital but too little time thinking about the human capital of our HEIs.

It is time to recognise the contribution of private higher education

Over recent decades, significant growth has occurred in private higher education (PHE). internationally. PHE has expanded to meet and absorb demand in response to demographic pressures and on-going massification, continuing transition to knowledge-intensive economies and changes to the labour market, the expansion in lifelong learning, as well as the contraction of public budgets.

Although still a small sub-sector here, PHE has been a growing component of provision in Ireland. It constitutes a very diverse group, providing specialist education in public administration and business, medicine, and other health-related professions, teaching and ICT, in addition to a wide-range of undergraduate and post-graduate programmes.

The National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030 (2011) discusses the role of private higher education in terms of providing specialist programmes, meeting unmet future demand as well as being part of Ireland's internationalisation strategy. The Higher Education Authority Bill 2022 also has important implications for PHE opening the way for PHE institutions to join the regulatory and reporting system for Irish higher education. The clear advantage of being a designated HEI for PHE institutions is the status it confers and the potential for marketing nationally and internationally. The downside may be the regulatory regime that designation brings with it.

The Bill's proposals mark a significant advance in creating a more coherent and co-ordinated higher education system encompassing private and public providers. However, what is still lacking is an overarching policy for higher education where the role and contribution of PHE to national objectives would be placed in a strategic context with the role and contribution of the public HEIs. Crucially, absent also is any proposal to include eligible students in PHE institutions in the SUSI and other student support programmes. This is an issue of fairness and equity that must be dealt with if PHE is to play its fullest role in meeting our higher education and training needs.

Propositions For The Future Development Of The Policy Framework For Higher Education

In a time of great societal challenges, higher education should be front and centre in supporting society to meet them. But such challenges also call for the adoption of effective national policy and strategic choices to help shape the direction of the sector for the future

This paper concludes with **21 Propositions** – grouped under four headings – that could form the basis for strengthening the quality, competitiveness and sustainability of Irish higher education and research. Each proposition is like an onion, capable of being unravelled and dissected. They are meant to challenge current thinking and provoke debate and discussion; they are not presented as ready-made recommendations.

There are three dominant messages. First, a system approach can deliver the greatest collective impact and economies of scale in order to provide the best opportunities and benefits for students and Irish society. Second, change is coming. Ireland is either in the vanguard of change or it will be left behind. Third, we need to refocus on how we view higher education and the wider tertiary education system by looking at it through an equity and inclusiveness lens. The present system – to a very great extent – perpetuates past privilege. Having a shared inclusive vision of the way forward is essential.

DEVELOPING A CO-ORDINATED, COLLABORATIVE HIGHER EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND INNOVATION SYSTEM

- The creation of the Department of Further and Higher Education, Research, Innovation and Science provides the opportunity to develop an Integrated and Collaborative University-Based Research System firmly anchored in the HEIs and fully co-ordinated with the teaching and learning mission and overall national policy. It should embrace all disciplines, encourage social and technological innovation, and be place-based and globally competitive.
- 2. Regional Knowledge and Innovation Clusters should form the primary policy instrument for delivering greater co-ordination and collaboration between HEIs and other education providers, business and civic society. As a pathway to competitiveness, they leverage opportunities of place-based strategies and maximising capacity and capability.
- **3.** Academic and Research Capacity should be pooled by developing national doctoral programmes which both encourage and build upon institutional specialisations and maximise Ireland's international attractiveness to students, professionals and business.
- **4.** An **Internationalisation Strategy** that is comprehensive and inclusive should be developed that widens out opportunities for joint degrees and other international initiatives, and brands and promotes Irish education collectively on a unified national basis.
- 5. The contribution of Private Higher Education within the tertiary education system should be recognised and broadened through formal contractual arrangements between government and the institutions for the provision of education and training. Students in PHE institutions should be included in SUSI and other student support programmes.
- 6. Require HEIs to Develop and Implement Professional Development Plans, including succession planning for their staff having due regard to the requirement that.

recruitment and promotion systems more appropriately reflect equality on grounds of gender, ethnicity and race.

7. Reform Staff Contractual Arrangements to reflect changes in the academic environment, academic provision and the organisation of academic programming including movement to on-line and blended teaching and learning.

WIDENING EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES AND IMPROVING OUTCOMES

- **8.** Sweeping reform of the **Academic Calendar and Programme Provision** should be considered to provide:
 - More flexible education and training opportunities especially for part-time students, delivering on the years-long commitment to lifelong learning which has only very partially been met;
 - Optional expedited completion of programmes and graduation;
 - More focus on work-based/work-informed learning, employability and work placements, competency-based education (CBE) and the new forms of apprenticeship;
 - Shorter courses/programmes and new forms of modularised and micro-credential programmes;
 - Year-round use of education and training infrastructure with greater porosity between full- and part-time provision.
- 9. In order to balance demand for further and higher education place a Cap on the Number of Students Entering Higher Education. This should be combined with a much enhanced and well-resourced career advice service for second-level students and adults interested in returning to education/training to ensure more informed choices about the options for tertiary education and overcome biases that exist in society.
- 10. A National Credit Accumulation and Transfer System would create opportunities for learners of all ages and ability to progress through tertiary education by building credits and credentials over time, according to their abilities and circumstances, and carrying them from one programme, or one institution, or form of education and training, to another. This should facilitate students transferring between programmes and/or institutions if circumstances or interests change and bring a new dynamic to the concept of lifelong learning.
- **11. Guided and Navigable Learning Pathways** can help facilitate learner progression through tertiary institutions and programmes into work and back again. It is complementary to a National Credit Accumulation and Transfer System. Pathways can provide clear guidance for learners of all ages and abilities in line with the NFQ.

- 12. In addition to measures to support greater equity of access and participation from students from a wider socio-economic background, the process of Assessment at Second Level Should Be Reformed to reduce the singular focus on a high stakes, high pressure leaving certificate which in many respects perpetuates social and economic privilege. It should be replaced with more innovative approaches to assessment that capture the wide range of student learning and achievement.
- **13.** Establish a **National Open and Distance Learning (ODL) Platform,** providing an internationally competitive education and training system, while avoiding the costs and other inefficiencies of institution specific solutions.

STEERING AND FUNDING THE SYSTEM

- 14. An integrated further and higher education intermediary body to form a **Tertiary Education and Research Authority (TERA),** providing the basis for a more coordinated approach to education and training, research and innovation. The TERA would play a more significant role as the over-arching governance and performance structure for the tertiary system.
- **15. Change the Funding Model for Tertiary Education** to support the learners and system we want:
 - To encourage greater and wider access into, and through, the tertiary system focusses public funding on NFQ Levels 5-7. Students would be eligible for two years of tuition under this proposal;
 - To better reflect and encourage flexibility, shift funding away from the number of students enrolled;
 - LLL vouchers should provide open pathways for learners to come in and out of the tertiary system;
 - To encourage and reward "system-ness" and regional impact and benefit, funding should be directed to/through regional clusters. This requires formal governance structures.
- **16.** Reform the **System Performance Framework,** in terms of what it is trying to achieve, the processes which underpin it, the evaluation criteria and the connection to funding to ensure that it better balances regional, national and global ambitions and undoes the extent to which the exercise has become a bureaucratic exercise, the value of which is being increasingly questioned.
- **17.** Use the reformed performance framework to create a more fully collaborative higher education system which would encourage greater **Programme Specialisation** as a way to reduce inefficient programme duplication, strengthen institutional differentiation and improve efficiency, quality and competitiveness.

DEVELOPING A COMPREHENSIVE INFORMATION INFRASTRUCTURE

- **18. A National Digital Platform** would provide a shared digital infrastructure promoting and supporting open access solutions and scholarly and other resources, data and analytics, training, advice and other services for further and higher education and research, libraries and museums (HE, government and public), other public services and society at large. The aim is to ensure Ireland is among the most digitally advanced countries in the world.
- **19.** Develop and resource a **National Shared Services Infrastructure**, providing for areas such as libraries, accommodation, sports facilities, personnel and other back-office services.
- **20.** Expand work on a **Tertiary Education Database** to provide a comprehensive approach to information and data across all dimensions of tertiary education, including the entire cohort of students, graduates and staff, and learning experiences. The aim is to significantly strengthen our collective and individual institutional capacity and capabilities for strategic planning and analytics, student support and outcomes, and benchmarking. This should link with the Research Information Management System, mentioned below.
- **21.** A **National Research Information Management System** based on FAIR (findable, accessible, interoperable, reusable) principles to store, manage and exchange contextual metadata and enable exchange between institutional research information systems and repositories. It should focus on quality outcomes, impact and benefit for knowledge and for society across all disciplines and the entire knowledge-innovation cycle in order to enable appropriate levels of strategic decision-making and analysis.

Strengthening the Sustainability, Quality and Competitiveness of Irish Higher Education: Trends and Propositions to Provoke Debate

1. Introduction And Overview

1.1 Introduction

This paper focuses on: -

- The major trends both national and international currently impacting, or expected to impact in the future, on higher education institutions (HEI) (including developments at EU level);
- The extent to which the current evolving national policy framework for higher education and the wider tertiary education system (TES) is aligned with, and equipped to respond to, these trends in order to maximise the contribution of the combined system to the delivery of national strategic outcomes and which validates the characterisation of tertiary education as a strategic national asset;
- The implications positive and negative of those trends for the future direction of higher education in Ireland, and the wider TES where relevant, with a particular focus on issues potentially impacting on the sustainability and performance of the HEIs as well as those which appear to create significant opportunities for the sector;
- Arising from the assessment of these issues, a number of propositions are set out to act as an invitation, even provocation, for debate.

1.2 Context

Our higher education institutions are a major driver of Ireland's social, cultural and economic development. They provide human capital through education and training – attracting and retaining high-skilled talent and investment, playing a critical role in the knowledge-researchinnovation eco-system, underpinning our global competitiveness at national and regional level and playing a crucial role in addressing inequality in Irish society. They generate new ideas, encourage critical thinking and foster creativity and leadership. We are not alone in this. The EU has put European values and European higher education at the heart of its future in its recently published *European Strategy for Universities*, and *Council Recommendation on building bridges for effective European higher education cooperation*, along with the *Staff Working Document*.¹ Internationally, these are the expectations of higher education from governments and citizens. Skills and employment are critical outcomes of our higher education system but they are not the only indicators of success, or of demand. Desire to participate in higher education is underwritten by the values of 21st century society and in turn reflects the aspirations for individual, family and community self-determination and eagerness to participate actively in local, national and global life. Economic growth and well-being reinforce each other. Good outcomes for individuals have positive impacts and benefits for family life, health, crime prevention, citizenship, civic engagement, social justice and public discourse. The benefits of higher education "are not limited to people who are, or have, been students" but extend across society.² Democratic societies require, and are sustained by, an engaged well-informed citizenry.³

As a result, there is no aspect of our social, cultural and economic life that is not affected, in some way, by the sustainability, quality and competitiveness of our HEIs. Figure 1 below illustrates these connectivities and interdependencies – across different aspects of society and policy. HEIs, what they do and how they perform, sit at the epicentre of all of this.



Figure 1. HEIs Sit at the Centre of a Complex Policy Eco-System

While the focus of this paper is primarily on higher education, it is imperative that the overarching national policy frameworks for further and higher education are fully aligned and that these in turn are aligned with the objectives articulated in a range of relevant current Government strategies. In this way, the role and contribution of the tertiary education system, as a key driver of national strategic outcomes and objectives, can be fully realised.

Source. Adapted from Hazelkorn, 2020⁴

The world is in a state of flux, and the future is less predictable than ever. Apart from the impact of populist governments and leaders with their ultra-nationalism, antagonism towards internationalisation and their hostility to intellectual and scientific endeavour and academic freedom, the Covid-19 pandemic and its social and economic consequences are likely to accelerate existing trends, expose underlying weaknesses in the higher education system and, on a more positive note, open up opportunities. As if these developments were not enough to create greater instability in the world social and economic order enter President Putin with his thirst for warlike conquest.

As demands on HEIs grow, governments are facing competing demands for state-led initiatives with respect to health and social services, labour-activation and other safety-net initiatives, economic supports and stimulus programmes.

So how should we begin to think about the medium to longer term issues which will be important for all of us: our HEIs, academic and administrative staff, current and future students, and Irish society as a whole. How relevant are the mega-trends identified in this paper for Ireland and its higher education system? Are there other trends we should also take account of? Is the impact of some trends more likely or predictable than others? What administrative and governance structures will we need? And how is the system to be funded? These are some of the questions which a comprehensive policy review should address. In the final section of this paper a series of propositions or assertions are set out to act as an invitation and as a provocation for debate.

2. Macro-Trends Impacting Or Expected To Impact On Higher Education In The Future

As the world has become more globally integrated, higher education has become a global enterprise. As already noted, HEIs make a vital contribution to the future through their graduates, new and innovative ideas and discovery, and on-going engagement with the wider community and public discourse. Notwithstanding criticisms of globalisation, contemporary higher education operates and benefits from an open global system in which boundaries are increasingly porous. This includes student, academic and professional mobility but also education and research programmes, global knowledge flows and networks and other internationalisation initiatives. The growth of the global and geopolitical significance of HEIs has been transformative over recent decades.

This section presents an overview of key social, demographic, economic and technological factors impacting on, and influencing, higher education and research with relevance for Ireland and Irish HEIs. Discussing challenges and opportunities for Ireland in the context of global developments is not straightforward. National contexts differ and there are signs of convergence with movement towards greater harmonisation and divergence, with evidence

of different effects within and between countries and across the global landscape.⁵ Because policy choices matter, this overview of macro-trends is designed to prompt longer term strategic thinking in order to strengthen the sustainability, quality and competitiveness of Irish HEIs.

2.1 Demography and the Global Talent Pool

The world's population is expected to reach 9.8bn by 2050, and 11.2bn by 2100. Most of this growth is anticipated to occur in Africa. The population of more developed regions is expected to remain relatively stable over the next decades before declining due to a combination of factors including lower fertility rates and smaller households.⁶ By 2070, EU countries will represent less than 4% of the world's population compared with about 6% today. As life expectancy increases, the share of people in the older age groups will increase while those in the working-age population are projected to decrease. Also, by 2070, 30% of people in Europe are estimated to be aged 65 and above, up from about 20% today and the number of children and young people (aged 0-19) is projected to decrease.⁷ These developments are helping to redefine the concept of "old age" as people live healthily and actively, and work, longer.

Increasing educational participation is a global phenomenon driven by demographic and economic growth and public policy. Demand is driven by a desire for a good job and secure future. But that doesn't tell the full story. There is a strong societal effect between participation and the rise of the middle class with "penalties for non-participation".⁸ Between 2000 and 2017, the global higher education gross enrolment ratio (GER)⁹ increased from around 19% to 38% with notable regional and country disparities.¹⁰ As a consequence, the number of students enrolled in higher education is estimated to reach 660m by 2040 rising from 28.6m students in 1970. This means students will constitute 10% of the world's population of 15-79 year-olds compared with only 4%in 2012.¹¹

Today a diverse range of educational providers, public and private, cater for a demographically and geographically diverse cohort of learners. There are over 20,000 officially accredited or recognised HEIs, up from 12,000 in 1997 – although the number is almost certainly higher because of the way universities are legally determined in different countries.¹ The number of internationally mobile tertiary students worldwide has risen from 2m in 1998 to 5.3m in 2017.¹² Over 17m students are enrolled globally in distance education (2019)¹³ and there are over 100m MOOC learners (2018).¹⁴ The number of branch campuses has increased from c.84 in 2000 to 300+ today.¹⁵

¹ Data provided by International Association of Universities (IAU), World Higher Education Database (https://whed.net/home.php), 06 March 2022. The number includes accredited and recognised HEIs globally, i.e. i) on an official list of accredited HEIs released by their national competent bodies (normally the ministry of education), ii) be a degree-conferring institution offering at least a four-year degree or a four-year professional diploma, iii) have had at least three cohorts, and iv) not institutions offering exclusively military or religious training.

If current trends continue, 70% of young people with tertiary education will come from non-OECD G20 countries by 2030.¹⁶ It is anticipated that China and India will constitute almost half of all tertiary graduates while EU countries and the US combined will account for less than a quarter. This is in sharp contrast to 2005 when almost 17% of all tertiary graduates came from the US.¹⁷ By 2030 also, a majority of the global population will be middle class, two-thirds of whom will reside in Asia. In contrast, the size of the European and North American middle class is stagnating.¹⁸ China and India could account for more than 60% of STEM gradates in the G20 area, with Europe and the United States providing only 8% and 4%, respectively.¹⁹

These changes underline the dramatic shifts in the geographic balance of the global talent pool²⁰ and the impact of talent mobility. In 2022, 281m people were estimated to be living in a country other than that of their birth.²¹ The cross-border movement of people and ideas is indispensable, especially for growing economies with declining populations. This makes many countries in Europe and the US more dependent upon immigration and attracting and retaining mobile students and academic professionals to fuel and maintain their economies as workers and consumers of goods and services. This also means that multi-culturalism and cultural diversity will become the norm, contributing to the on-going "shift away from the white middle-aged alpha male culture that has dominated,"²² and altering the historic coherence between culture, ethnicity and territorially-defined nations.

2.2 Shifting Geography of Research, Development and Innovation (RDI)

Recent years have seen a rapid expansion of RDI performance in East/Southeast and South Asia. This trend is manifest in the significant increase in published science papers (such as physical sciences and STEM disciplines) since 2003 and most notably artificial intelligence (AI). China is forecast to be a global leader in science and innovation by 2050;²³ it is now the second largest scientific powerhouse after the US with 14% of the top 10% most-cited publications.²⁴ All this tell us much about geo-political tensions today.²⁵

While geographic, linguistic and historical ties remain strong, international collaboration is beginning to outpace single authorship and institutional collaboration.²⁶ Internationally coauthored papers, as a percentage of all scientific papers, has more than doubled over the past 20 years, accounting for all the output growth by scientifically advanced countries.²⁷ International collaboration also accounts for increased numbers of patents with global teams featuring prominently, exceeding the performance of in-country patents and being better cited within and outside of the country. Global networks, open science systems and digital platforms are contributing to a wide diffusion of knowledge and realignment of research internationally.

This shift corresponds with changes in research production from discipline-driven to problemfocused.²⁸ The search for a Covid-19 vaccine mirrors earlier collaborative efforts with respect to SARS, MERS and Ebola – all of which required data sharing and collaborative efforts on a global scale.²⁹ Adoption of the UN 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (2015) is significant in that it officially recognised that societal problems were territorially blind and that no country has the knowledge or research capacity or capability to solve such challenges on their own. Technological frameworks and initiatives around open science and open access – such as the EU's Plan S – and the shift to open research infrastructures based on FAIR (findable, accessible, interoperable, reusable) principles – are likely to be strengthened by recent developments.³⁰

Two trends are emerging. First, the centre of gravity is shifting eastward and southward as new players and new mega-regions emerge and wield more power and influence.³¹ Second, a multipolar scientific world is evolving in which many nations now actively participate rather than one dominated by only a few big powers.³² Today, more than 40 countries are involved in global science; more than 100 countries were actively engaged in research to develop effective Covid-19 vaccines and treatments.

Global university rankings are rightly criticised for their inadequate methodology and unreliable data³³ but they tell us something about overall trends in international higher education. In 2003, the year the Shanghai Academic Ranking of World Universities (ARWU) first emerged, the Americas and Europeans dominated. In the years since, China's rise has been the most notable feature, albeit its rise masks the less spectacular but equally important changes happening amongst the BRICS countries. China had 7 universities in the top-100 in 2021 (with Tsinghua ranking 28 in 2021) compared with none in 2003. More significantly, China had a whopping 84² in the top-500 in 2021 compared with 19³ in 2003 – an increase of over 300 per cent.³⁴ In comparison the UK has declined in both categories, with 8 universities in the top 100 in 2021 (cf. 11 in 2003) and 36 in the top 500 (cf. 42); likewise, the US had 40 universities in the top 100 in 2021 (cf. 58) and 133 in top 500 (cf. 170).⁴

The message is consistent: there is a more diverse set of players, universities and countries amongst the top rankings. And more significantly, there is a significant pipeline of emerging universities and countries appearing beyond the top-100.³⁵ The global landscape is more open but it is also more competitive. Countries and HEIs are competing with others which were little known several decades ago. Rankings are a lag-indicator; they simply confirm the changing global and geopolitical dynamics.

2.3 Technological progress and implications for skills and jobs

The Fourth Industrial Revolution is likely to have a transformative effect on how people live, work and interact with other people and things in the future.³⁶ Climate change is also a significant factor in terms of the way in which new policies and regulations will impact on both enterprises and consumers. New opportunities into the future will require higher-order

² 2021: Of which Taiwan had 6, Hong Kong had 5, and Macau had 1

³ 2003: Of which Hong Kong and Taiwan had 5 each.

⁴ In contrast Russia had 2 universities in the top 500 in 2021 and 2003. Moscow State University was increased from 102-151 in 2003 to 97 in 2021.

cognitive, communication and interpersonal skills, complex problem solving, creativity, fluency of ideas and active learning requiring people to have broad-based skills alongside specialist knowledge.³⁷ The Covid-19 pandemic is accelerating these trends.³⁸

Digital skills are essential to enable people to take advantage of opportunities, yet countries have great variation in the share of individuals with digital proficiencies.³⁹ 43% of EU workers have seen the technologies they work with change in the past five years while 47% have experienced changes in their working methods or practices.⁴⁰ At the same time, 55% of EU companies had difficulties filling vacancies for ICT specialists in 2019.⁴¹ Furthermore, regardless of whether graduates live and work close to their home or are internationally mobile, they will operate as part of the global talent pool in an inter-connected world. This necessitates credentials being quality assured, mutually recognised and internationally comparable.

Precise information about which jobs are likely to be affected, automated, lost or displaced remain uncertain but change is already here. While there is the possibility of oversupply in some areas, there is considerable evidence of increasing needs for, and shortages of, people with adequate levels of qualifications in many areas.⁴² This is due to a combination of factors.⁴³ The total labour force is increasing around the globe. However a geographic shift is taking place with industrial jobs falling in the West and rising in the East with high levels of within-region variation. Counter moves towards the reshoring or repatriation of manufacturing are also evident in response to concerns around hyper-globalisation and Covid-19.⁴⁴

These developments will require on-going education and training to improve knowledge and support skill adaptation, and research and development to help mitigate effects. While our focus is on HEIs, it is important to note that developing competencies for problem-solving and innovation, as well as analytical and critical thinking, does not start in higher education. Children entering school now will live beyond the end of this century, and are likely to change careers, at a minimum, two or three times over their lifetimes.⁴⁵ This will necessitate greater coherence across the entire education lifecycle, from cradle to grave.

As higher education attainment levels have increased over recent decades, questions are being asked about "labour mismatch", a term used to explain divergences between qualifications, skills and employment.⁴⁶ Concerns focus around whether qualifications necessarily equate with better skills,⁴⁷ especially if people lack the right skills or cannot make use of them.⁴⁸ There are also allegations of grade inflation, concerns about graduate job-readiness and ultimately confidence in the credential and quality assurance system itself.⁴⁹ There is almost universal discordance between employers and higher education providers about graduate competencies required by/for the labour market.⁵⁰ Results of the OECD Survey of Adult Skills (PIAAC) – which show a sizeable proportion of adults in some countries having poor reading, numeracy and problem-solving skills and significant numbers with limited experience of computers – have increased these concerns.

The link between qualifications and occupations is complex and multifaceted.⁵¹ Skill strategies are often based on the assumption that if enough skills are supplied to employers this can tip the scale towards greater output, quality and sustainability. But, skill supply cannot be considered or addressed separately from demand as well as wider non-employment factors e.g. family, socio-economic and personal circumstances, gender, race and ethnicity, and school settings.⁵²

As national economies shift from mass production to knowledge economy occupations, countries have strong incentives to build-up the skills of their populations through higher education. Higher education is required to add value to student's credentials and life-enhancing skills. When concerns are highlighted, criticism usually focuses on HEIs and the appropriateness of the curriculum and whether graduates have the appropriate balance between practical skills, learning facts and critical thinking. These issues potentially challenge higher education's legitimacy as the guarantor of quality, especially in the context of changing national and global labour market conditions and new forms of credentialization.⁵³

2.4 Internationalisation and Student Mobility

The number of internationally mobile students has been rising steadily since the 1990s, and is estimated to reach around 8m by 2030 compared with 2m in 1998, although growth varies significantly across countries. Key factors include both push (e.g. availability and quality of domestic provision) and pull (e.g., quality and reputation of host countries and their HEIs). International education⁵ is estimated to reach more than €433bn globally by 2030.⁵⁴

Over recent decades, there has been a noticeable change in the internationalisation of higher education, influenced by globalisation and the increased importance of knowledge. This has led to a shift from the primary focus being on cultural and academic co-operation to a broader and more competitive approach. This includes the race for talent, international student recruitment, strategic partnerships, income generation, rankings and institutional positioning.⁵⁵ In particular, the emphasis has shifted from recruitment of international students for short-term economic gain to recruitment of talented international students and scholars, (e.g., in STEM fields) to meet the needs of academia and industry. Skills shortages in these fields are caused by demographic trends, insufficient local student participation, and increased demand for innovation in the knowledge economy.

Attracting mobile students and academic professionals, especially if they stay permanently, is an important way to tap into the global talent pool.⁵⁶ It can help compensate for weaker

⁵ The estimate reflects the direct and indirect economic impact of the 5.1 million post-secondary students who were studying abroad in 2016, as well as their "induced" impact, meaning the ripple effect that international student spending has on jobs, tax revenues, and household income. Not factored in to the figure are the "intangible" other benefits these students provide such as "academic, research, experiential, and cultural dimensions contributing towards an inclusive, innovative, and interconnected global society."

domestic educational capacity, support the development of innovation and production systems, and mitigate the impact of an ageing population on future skills supply as the economy and labour market changes.⁵⁷ In Europe, internationalisation as a strategic process began with ERASMUS in 1987, opening up opportunities for within-Europe and international mobility. Linked with foreign, economic and trade policy, internationalisation can be an effective form of soft-power.⁵⁸

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a disruptive impact on internationalisation but some trends were already evident.⁵⁹ The shift in the global share of international students has been evident for many years. The US and the UK remain in first and second place, respectively, but they have experienced "meagre year-over-year growth rates compared with countries such as China, Canada, Australia, Russia, and Japan".⁶⁰ This is due to a combination of factors. In recent years anti-immigrant sentiment and political developments, notably US policies under the Trump administration and Brexit, have been growing factors. More significantly, other regions, notably Asia, have expanded their provision while becoming more attractive and affordable for their own domestic and other regionally-based students, especially as their HEIs climb in the rankings.⁶¹

The future, at least in the short term, is likely to shift to being a buyer's market. As competitive pressures heat up, institutional and national weaknesses are likely to be exposed, and the quality and value-for-money of the offer will become even more important.⁶² Global university rankings are often used to gauge perceptions of quality; at the same time, the ability to attract international students is used as an indicator of quality and prestige.⁶³ The pandemic shows how this (over)dependence has become deeply problematic.⁶⁴

But internationalisation is much more than mobility and treating international students pejoratively as "cash cows". It includes all forms of international inter-institutional partnerships, cross-border higher education (branch-campuses, transnational education), elearning, and internationalisation@home initiatives.⁶⁵ The EU envisages transnational cooperation as a way to structurally integrate and develop strategic cooperation across education, research and innovation and service to society through, for example, the European University initiative.⁶⁶ As such, future attention is likely to focus on these other forms of transnational educational programmes including post-graduate and post-doctoral opportunities which include work-visas and routes to citizenship.⁶⁷

2.5 Equity, Access & Active Ageing

The composition of the learner cohort is becoming more diverse according to socio-economic circumstances, age, gender and race/ethnicity and drawing in students who are first-in-family. People are living longer and staying active longer. The arrival of an increased number of refugees in Europe is also contributing to a more diverse student cohort. At the same time, developments accelerated by sudden triggers such as the Covid-19 pandemic will require flexible responses from educational institutions.

The concept of a "job for life" has become redundant in the face of continuing global, technological and labour market changes.⁶⁸ However, across OECD countries "the share of students entering university at age 30 or older has not increased".⁶⁹ More significantly the percentage of adults involved in formal education and training remains very low – although the recent decline may be due to Covid.⁷⁰ Indeed, most HEIs are primarily oriented towards traditional 18-22 year-old students who study on campus and retain traditional academic year and timetabling patterns. Yet skills learned during school will not remain relevant 30-40 years later. The WEF estimates that "by 2022 approximately 54% of all employees will require significant re- and upskilling."⁷¹ The USA may be a bellwether with students aged over 25 years or older becoming the dominant component of the HE student population.⁷² A similar picture is emerging in Australia, which also shows a growing number of students never set foot on campus and instead study on-line and through other external modes.

Despite years of increasing and widening participation strategies, there is evidence of widening inequality gaps and growing divergences in educational opportunities and outcomes across countries.⁷³ Human capital theory and meritocracy held out the promise that effort and achievement rather than wealth or social class would shine through.⁷⁴ Yet, in every country where data is available, participation in higher education continues to be unequal from a social background perspective.⁷⁵ Disadvantaged students remain under-represented amongst those entering the system, and if they enrol they are over-represented in less prestigious institutions and/or degree programmes.⁷⁶ Due to deeply embedded social-cultural advantages held by more affluent groups in society, opportunities for upward mobility vary so considerably that it is no longer certain that a higher education qualification is sufficient for personal success and social equity.⁷⁷ It is not simply an issue of access but access to what? – a question which points to increasing awareness that differentiation of institutional missions has led to stratification of opportunity.⁷⁸ HEls which have provided a gateway to opportunity have also acted as formidable gatekeepers as they pursue prestige at home and abroad.⁷⁹

The expansion of tertiary education in OECD countries over the past decades has benefited women more than men: 51% of 25-34 year-old women now have a tertiary degree on average across OECD countries, up from 40% in 2008. However, women are still under-represented in STEM fields of study and over-represented in health and welfare across all tertiary levels.⁸⁰ There also remains a strong male dominance in ICT-related disciplines with only one in five new students being female.⁸¹ Significant gaps also persist between the rising number of women as students and those in leadership roles.⁸² Organisational and cultural barriers to career opportunities continue to exist.⁸³

Attention is drawn to learners who are gradually being "left behind" by the current system and those who are unable to access the system in any meaningful and sustained way. Widening access to under-served groups, and to those who have been inactive, is essential in order to meet societal and labour needs as well as stem societal inequalities resulting in alienation of significant groups of people and rising social tensions. There is a necessity to expand educational opportunities and being much more innovative in order to cater for reskilling and up-skilling for those in the labour force or wishing to re-join. This includes women after child-birth or rearing or people affected by personal, social and economic circumstances.⁸⁴ Furthermore, countries experiencing demographic change are likely to become increasingly dependent on developing the skills of older adults. Thus, providing educational opportunities for mature learners is a sustainability issue. The new learner landscape presents significant challenges to the existing model of compulsory education which envisages students progressing systematically from primary to secondary to tertiary and then into lifetime employment. Indeed, if lifelong learning is to be fully realised, it starts with recognising all learners as life-long learners – and then rethinking educational design and delivery accordingly.

2.6 Digitalisation and the Pedagogical Revolution

We are only in the "early stages" of a learning revolution. Even before the Covid-19 pandemic moved teaching and learning on-line, the pedagogical landscape was changing albeit slowly. It was clear even then that "much face-to-face teaching was – and is – badly in need of radical reform."⁸⁵ The digital revolution is only one aspect of required changes, albeit recent events have brought them into sharper focus.⁸⁶

New teaching and learning pedagogies with an emphasis on student engagement (e.g., problem-based learning and students as co-creators), the use of technology in classroom (e.g., virtual learning environments, adaptive learning, immersive environments, mobile learning, and flipped-classrooms) and new innovative forms of assessment are redefining the way students learn and the role of the lecturer/teacher. There is growing interest in new forms of internships and work-based/work-informed learning, earn-and-learn models as well as applied- and community-based research, competency-based education, and micro-credentials.

Competency-based education (CBE) has primarily been a feature of education in the USA although the concept is well-embedded in vocational education. Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) – a process to evaluate skills and knowledge gained outside formal education and training – has some similarities. By assessing student learning in terms of demonstrable competencies (which can include knowledge, skills and attitudes) and not as a record of classes attended nor time taken, CBE and RPL offer a flexible means to support adult, part-time and mobile learners, as well as refugees and migrants drawing on their knowledge and skills.⁸⁷

Digital learning tools are transforming learning and provision.⁸⁸ They include e-learning and other digital measures such as blended learning, the creation of MOOCs and Open Education Resources (OER),⁸⁹ the use of e-learning platforms, collaborative learning platforms, digital assessments, etc. Open and Distance Learning (ODL) is not a new phenomenon but it is now playing a crucial role in providing access to millions of people globally despite perceptions of

lower quality and status.⁹⁰ It has the potential to facilitate access to students for whom constraints of the standard university experience (time, location, cost, etc.) pose a barrier to entry.

The changing student cohort and the labour market has led to an increase in shorter courses which are seen as better adapted to acquiring skills and competences needed by the labourmarket. Micro credentials refer to a very wide range of credentials tied to short, flexible learning opportunities that are focussed on specific skills or knowledge. They are distinct from, but can also be seen as both independently coherent and building blocks towards larger "macro-credentials" such as traditional university degrees (e.g., Bachelor's or Master's Degrees) diplomas and certificates.⁹¹ Many are offered by private providers and by employers. They vary in quality, which is a significant challenge. Steps are being taken to include non-formal and informal courses, as well as micro credentials, within quality assurance processes and qualifications frameworks. These would go a long way to ensuring a transparent system of credits open to everyone regardless of which institution they study at.⁹²

Adoption of just-in-time concepts – whereby learning can occur anytime, anywhere – will transform the rhetoric of life-long learning into reality. Accessing education should not require months and years of planning, countless applications, using savings or taking out huge loans and/or giving up months or years of your life to match an institutional schedule. New forms of learning raise questions for quality assurance. But they also raise fundamental challenges to (public) HEIs. If they fail to respond to opportunities, private providers are offering an alternative "product". Partnerships are being forged between public and private institutions, with many specialist providers emerging.

Such developments have huge implications for HEIs and their business model. In many countries, public higher education was the principal provider of education and research, but this is no longer the case. Future success requires that institutions offer an innovative and "coherent institutional approach to learning, teaching and assessment" rather than individual initiatives or using specific digital tools.⁹³ It also requires leadership and management capabilities, as well as continuous professional development. In this way, changes are potentially transformative not just for the individual learner but for higher education and society.

2.7 Steering and Funding the System

Governance and regulation arrangements are central to the aim of governments to steer higher education systems and institutions so that they better contribute to the public interest as stated in national objectives.⁹⁴ As the role of education in national development and personal opportunity has become more important, new governance and funding arrangements and regulations have become more necessary. These developments represent a "shift from an earlier uneasy balance between professional and state control to some new combination of state and market control."⁹⁵ Concepts such as "managerialism" and "corporatisation" are often used to explain and describe a process of profound reform and restructuring across public services, with implications for the management and organisation of HE, and academic culture and work.⁹⁶ Internationally there is no one dominant governance model.

Because higher education is key role to producing and attracting talent and knowledge, and underpinning competitiveness, how educational institutions are managed and led has become a matter of public and political interest. This transformed higher education from a locally-based institution to one with geopolitical significance. Global rankings have played their part, comparing and measuring success in terms of global science. Accordingly, there is increased emphasis on oversight and regulation; alignment between what educational institutions do with national objectives; and monitoring and reporting. Higher education may refer to itself as pursuing the public good, but this must now be demonstrated and evaluated in terms of outcomes, impacts and benefits.⁹⁷

As public budgets have become constrained due to national or international circumstances and growing societal demands, an investment gap has opened up.⁹⁸ Across Europe the divide between higher education systems that increase and reduce public funding is getting wider – some based on ideology and others due to circumstances,⁹⁹ the aim is to make "funding work more effectively in education and research."¹⁰⁰

There are two key trends – but ultimately the policy choices are shaped as much by financial/economic considerations as by societal/cultural factors.

First, performance-based funding (PBF) mechanisms seek to align higher education activity and outcomes with specific/national objectives while balancing institutional autonomy.¹⁰¹ Different models may include performance frameworks and/or strategic dialogue or, formulabased allocation models. Many models use input measures, such as student numbers, although the use of output criteria, such as graduation or progression rates – or other objectives – is increasing.¹⁰² These models operate irrespective of the actual amount of funding available because regardless of the percentage of public funding an institution receives or whether institutions are private – not-for-profit or for-profit – they all impact on society. Its a version of the JFK statement, its what higher education can do for society that counts.

Second, different schemes are being pursued to reduce the gap between what the public purse can afford and what the system needs. There is little doubt that higher education is costly for learners due to tuition fees and non-study costs. The issue of cost-sharing aims to balance social and personal benefit while avoiding regressive characteristics associated with free fee schemes. Radical policy changes, such as the introduction of tuition fees accompanied by income contingent loan schemes¹⁰³ (as in England or Australia) or their abolition (as in Germany) do occur, but these are the exception.¹⁰⁴ Systems that can mobilise both public and private resources tend to be able to achieve higher levels of spending than those that rely

only upon public resources, leading to improvements in equity (as more study places are made available), and quality (as improved human and physical resources are provided to learners).¹⁰⁵ Ultimately the costs associated with providing high quality and internationally competitive higher education are likely to continue to increase.

2.8 Public Trust and Civic Engagement

The underlying assumption of economic development and massification has been that each generation would be better off than the previous one; progress has been seen as a birth-right. However, income inequality is at the highest level for the past 50 years.¹⁰⁶ Every generation since the baby boom era has seen the middle-income group shrink and its economic influence weaken.¹⁰⁷ Despite the fact that higher education is in growing demand, more people feel left behind.¹⁰⁸ Globalization has brought benefits but it has also generated inequalities and increased economic insecurity felt by individuals, their families and communities. This has led to widening disparities in wealth and opportunities, and political views, according to educational attainment, institutional status and place. Many countries are experiencing reduced voter turn-out and a rise in fake-news, hoaxes, conspiracy theories and misinformation. Even reaction to the pandemic has become a partisan issue. Together, these developments are leading to concerns about a decline in public trust and increasing social tensions with a worrying concern that government is unable to solve societal problems.¹⁰⁹

The economic and political environment over recent years has increased the imperatives on higher education. More people have an interest in higher education and there is accordingly a growing and wider range of different interests to which it must respond. There has been less public tolerance of what is often seen as academic privilege and self-promotion.

Public debate has taken different forms in different countries but common concerns include whether graduates lack appropriate skills or study the wrong subjects or whether too many students are encouraged into higher rather than further/vocational education. There is also increasing focus on the performance of the system as a whole. This goes beyond looking at individual institutions and looks at access, participation and opportunities for success. Questions are being asked about whether college is worth it. Approaches to financing higher education are also changing in many countries with greater emphasis on cost-sharing. Discussions around improved quality and better accountability and efficiency in the use of public funding challenges the traditional role of academics and the balance between autonomy and accountability. Conversely, it could be argued that the increased attention simply reaffirms higher education's increasing importance to the sustainability of society and economy.¹¹⁰

These developments have prompted and coincided with renewed thinking about the role HEIs play and their responsibilities with regard to strengthening social and economic sustainability, public discourse and democratic values. Democracies require active well-informed "global" citizens who can fully participate in, and contribute, to society at all levels. The strong

emphasis on engagement, collaboration and societal impact and benefit is in response to the very deep economic and social crisis of recent decades and partly a rebuke to a perceived overemphasis on prestige-seeking behaviour.

Three inter-related trends dominate both the policy and academic landscape.

- HEIs are urged to develop deeper engagement with their communities in response to growing social and economic challenges.¹¹¹ HEIs should be valued not only for what they are "good at" but what they are "good for."¹¹² The Civic University agenda uses various terminology (e.g., community, civic, regional) as a call to action. The aim is to encourage much authentic university engagement with their local or regional community as an integral component of teaching and research.¹¹³ The Smart Specialisation Strategy (S3)⁶ urges HEIs to adopt a place-based approach⁷ and to strengthen their role as an "anchor institution".¹¹⁴ Responsible Research and Innovation (RRI)⁸ applies similar principles to RDI, thus urging HEIs and researchers to engage with other societal actors to "better align both the process and its outcomes with the values, needs and expectations of society."¹¹⁵ The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) affirm the importance of collaboration to solve global societal challenges.¹¹⁶
- Greater consideration about how tertiary systems can better operate has been triggered by the complexities associated with near universal participation rates and economic and demographic change.¹¹⁷ Focus on system architecture and governance has highlighted concerns that (semi)rigid boundaries between, and biases about, academic, technical and vocational education and training (VET/TVET) are closing off education and career opportunities rather than encouraging learner success and innovative thinking.¹¹⁸ Different governance arrangements are being proposed albeit simply changing the names on ministries or agencies will not bring about sufficient change.¹¹⁹ Regionalisation is another component of this approach. Thus, considerable emphasis is being placed on collaboration and joined-up thinking to create a coherent educational eco-system.

⁶ Originally conceived as part of the Cohesion policy of the EU, smart specialisation is a place-based strategy based on leveraging the strengths and potential of the regional economy. <u>https://s3platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu</u>

⁷ A place-based approach builds on assets and resources available to regions and specific socio-economic challenges in order to identify unique opportunities for development and growth. Rather than a collection of different activities, the emphasis is on strategic coherence: adding value to the regional economy, building on local expertise, products and needs, recognising human capital not only RDI, bridging the innovation divide, building an eco-system with capacity for collaboration between educators, researchers, business, government and civil society. See for example: https://www.vic.gov.au/framework-place-based-approaches/place and https://whatworksscotland.ac.uk/topics/place-based-approaches/place

⁸ RRI is "an approach that anticipates and assesses potential implications and societal expectations with regard to research and innovation with the aim to foster the design of inclusive and sustainable research and innovation".

https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/h2020-section/responsible-research-innovation

Debate around the "public good" role of HEIs raises fundamental questions about who benefits and hence who pays. This has implications for public subsidies/funding and tuition/student grants as well as for governance. Deciding what is "public" in higher education has also informed wider discussions around how to balance institutional autonomy with public accountability.¹²⁰ Placing achievement of public value at the core of collective decision-making has provided the basis for (re)shaping the relationship or social contract between HEIs and society. The public policy objective is to better align the responsibilities of HEIs with the needs of society; how far that goes can be the source of considerable tension.¹²¹

3. Extent To Which The Irish Experience And Policy Framework Are Aligned With, And Equipped To Respond To, International Trends And Developments

Over recent decades, Ireland has been utterly transformed. Ireland today is an advanced, developed country, an active member of the European Union, the United Nations and the OECD.¹²² The country is affected by many of the same macro-trends as other countries while, as a small open economy, its economic fortunes are significantly dependent upon international trade and influenced by global markets which is also a source of its vulnerabilities.¹²³ The Covid-19 pandemic is influencing and accelerating many of these trends as well as the rate and assimilation of technological change, changing consumption patterns, new ways of working, involvement in global value networks (value chains), urbanisation and pressure on resources and shifting geo-political power structures.¹²⁴ These developments will have a significant influence on the future growth pattern of Irish society and economy, and Irish HEIs into the future.¹²⁵

This section looks at some key national policy and macro-trends likely to influence Irish HEIs over the next decades with respect to both challenges and opportunities.

3.1 Factors Influencing the expansion of Irish HEIs and research

The scale of population growth over recent decades and projected for the future is particularly noteworthy. Total population in the Republic is estimated to rise from almost 5m today to 6.7m in 2051,¹²⁶ and 10m across the island of Ireland. Population growth is due primarily to high immigration and high fertility rates.¹²⁷ These factors are influencing the current and future shape of the Irish population, the education system, where people live and work, and the labour force.

Due to the size of Ireland's young population, 60% of people in the labour force today will still be eligible workers in 2035.¹²⁸ In 2016 the working-age population, 15-64 years, comprised

65.5% of the total population. While the size of this population group will rise under all scenarios by 2051, its relative share of the total population is set to decrease. Correspondingly, the over 65-year-old population is expected to rise from 532,000 in 2011 to approximately 1.6m by 2051 under the most positive scenario. Labour force participation rates for males and females aged 55-69 are expected to rise alongside increases in the mandatory retirement age.¹²⁹

Spatially, despite projected population growth, all regions apart from Dublin and Mid-East are likely to lose population – albeit the 2022 census will provide an updated picture including the effects of the pandemic.¹³⁰ Based on current patterns of internal migration, the Greater Dublin region (Dublin and Mid-East) is projected to account for about 42% of the total population and approximately 46.5% of jobs by 2040. Under current trends, spatial development patterns are likely to be characterised by urban focus and sprawl although this will depend upon policy interventions and work and lifestyle interventions.¹³¹ While the future will be shaped by different types of working arrangements, including the shift to hybrid working post-pandemic,¹³² most of this will be around cities and larger towns:

Employers are increasingly likely to locate where there are larger pools of labour...the spatial pattern of employment is [likely to be] mainly focused on the urban hierarchy of cities and large towns.¹³³

Approximately 63% of our population currently lives in urbanized areas; this is similar to other developed countries, albeit Ireland remains "below the average in the EU (75%) and the OECD (80%). Irish rurality makes us closer to Eastern Europe and Mediterranean countries than our Northern European neighbours."¹³⁴

Demographic changes have significant implications for education. Under the most positive migration and fertility assumptions, primary school children will decrease by 6.8% between 2016-2031 before rising by 10.9% above 2016 levels by 2051. Secondary students are projected to decline under all scenarios post-2026 to 2051.¹³⁵

At the start of the 20th century, 3,200 students were enrolled at six HEIs on the island of Ireland. In 2022, there are almost 246,000 full- and part-time students enrolled across government-aided institutions, principally universities, technological universities and institutes of technology (IoT), across the Republic of Ireland.¹³⁶ Under the highest growth scenario – assuming a transfer rate from secondary to tertiary of ~70% and an increase in international students – full-time student numbers is estimated to peak at 242,392 in 2031 before declining to around 225,000 by 2040. Notably, these assumptions only pertain to full-time students.¹³⁷ In addition, these projections do not include the 27,000 students enrolled in the private higher education (PHE) sector,¹³⁸ or adults enrolled in non-formal or informal education. When the PHE students are included, the total number of higher education students in 2022 is almost 273,000 which is way above the estimate.

Ireland has one of the highest levels of tertiary education attainment and completion rates in the EU with 55% of 30-34 year-olds surpassing the EU2020 average of 40.3%; Ireland's Europe

2020 national target is 60%.¹³⁹ The economic returns for individuals are significant. The likelihood of being employed increases with the level of education attainment; 87% of native born adults, compared with 80% of foreign-born adults, are employed.¹⁴⁰ Tertiary-educated adults earn 81% more than those with an upper secondary education¹⁴¹ – an outcome which does not "strongly support the human capital hypothesis of overeducation".¹⁴² The overall majority of students on bachelor programmes are typically 19-21 years old.¹⁴³

Despite this significant achievement, PIAAC⁹ results show Irish adults perform significantly below the OECD average in both literacy and numeracy.¹⁴⁴ Ireland has one of the lowest levels of basic digital skills with just over half of 16-74 years-olds having basic or above basic digital competencies. While this percentage has risen from 2015, it is still below the EU average.¹⁴⁵ At tertiary level, fewer than half of students (46%) believed that their course prepared them for the digital workplace (NFETL, 2020). Although Ireland ranks sixth in Europe for digitalisation, only 55% of adults have basic or better-than-basic digital skills (EU 58%).¹⁴⁶

Tertiary participation is lowest for those with lower levels of pre-secondary educational attainment. Participation numbers have increased but almost 17% of adults are designated low-qualified.¹⁴⁷ Disparities are evident also in the fact that Ireland has a comparatively lower working age participation rate than the EU28 or neighbouring UK even prior to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and despite recent strong economic and labour market performance.¹⁴⁸

Strong regional variation is also evident. Internationally, several factors have converged to make income and opportunity inequalities and regional development a growing area of public policy concern with implications for higher education in many countries. Projections suggest 70% of the population in developed countries will live in cities by 2050 creating a growing spatial disconnect between regions which are growing dynamically while others are stagnating or falling behind. Although Ireland has one of the "lowest regional variations across OECD countries with available data,"¹⁴⁹ regional disparity remains an issue with respect to discrepancies in student choice and tertiary participation¹⁵⁰ and at the graduate level.

Of the 2020 graduating year, 40% of honours degree graduates were working in Dublin and 13.5% were employed in Cork and 6.4% in Galway. Of taught post-graduates, 46.5% were working in Dublin and 15% working in Cork and 6.5% in Galway; combined these three counties account for 68% of postgraduate taught employment compared with almost 60% of undergraduate honours degree. For research graduates, 45% were in Dublin, 17.2% in Cork and 7.6% in Galway. Regional disparity is further highlighted by the fact that just 4% of all graduates find employment in the southeast, 3% in the border region and only 2% in the midlands.¹⁵¹

Brexit, digitalisation and recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic present significant challenges, and that is before the implications of the Russian invasion of Ukraine are factored in.¹⁵²

⁹ Second Cycle of the Survey of Adult Skills (PIAAC) takes place 2021-2022 in Ireland; results published in 2023.

Among EU member states, 30% of enterprises in Ireland (and Belgium) employ ICT specialists – the highest in the EU.¹⁵³ One in three jobs in Ireland are at high risk (a probability greater than 70%) of being disrupted by the adoption of digital technologies; there will be both decline and growth across different sectors and employment types. Sectors most likely to be affected include agriculture, retail, transport and hospitality, and manufacturing. At a regional level, the Dublin region is the least at risk while the Midlands and Border regions are most at risk.¹⁵⁴

A pattern of people feeling "left behind" is associated with high levels of public and political distrust. Ireland has some similarities with experience elsewhere. Agglomeration effects have elevated Dublin vis-à-vis other cities and towns across the country leading to challenges associated with urban sprawl, housing and congestion with implications for people and families.¹⁵⁵ Levels of public distrust are higher in Ireland than in many other EU countries, despite the very high levels of support during the Covid-19 lock-down.¹⁵⁶ There is also a worrying gap between Irish people's perception of issues and the reality.¹⁵⁷

Formal life-long learning opportunities are still relatively under-developed although levels of Irish adults participating in learning has increased steadily over the years.¹⁵⁸ At 12.6% of adults, aged 25-64 years participate in learning – and increase from 6.6% in 2009 – this is higher than the EU 27 average of 10.8%¹⁵⁹ but below the EU 2020 target of 15% adult participation in life-long learning (LLL) which includes formal, non-formal and informal.¹⁰ Almost 50% of adult learning takes place through non-formal education but only 9% of 25-64 year-olds participate in some form of formal (mostly tertiary) education. Participation rates for the 25+ age cohort is unsurprisingly greatest amongst those already with a tertiary level qualification (69.6%) compared with only 28% for those with a lower secondary or 46.4% with an upper secondary education. Of non-formal education, only 11.6% was provided by formal educational institutions.¹⁶⁰ These issues also reflect the overall linear structure of the tertiary system, in other words, the primary focus is on direct entrants from upper secondary education or on adults.

Just prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, only 2.9% of 2018/2019 university students were counted as ODL students compared with 2.8% in 2014/2015.¹⁶¹ This probably explains why 70% of teaching staff said they had not taught in a live online environment. Under 50% of the 25,000+ Irish students surveyed indicated they would like digital technologies to be used in their course more than they are now.¹⁶² Four in five students and two-thirds of staff rated the quality of

¹⁰ Formal Education refers to the regular education and training system where courses are of a predetermined purpose and format, provided in system of schools, colleges, HEIs and other educational institutions. Non-formal Education refers to all organised learning activities outside regular or formal education, including courses or seminars to acquire/improve skills, knowledge and competence aimed at improving job-related knowledge or enhancing skills for social and personal purposes. Informal Learning includes learning that is not organised or structured in terms of purpose, time or instruction (e.g. language skills acquired during a stay abroad, IT skills acquired at work, skills acquired through sports, reading a professional magazine etc.). See DES (2016) *Ireland's National Skills Strategy 2025*, Dublin: Department of Education and Skills, p95

their institution's digital provision as above average, but one in five students and staff said they lacked adequate access.

Ireland is a participant in the global talent pool, albeit the numbers immigrating and emigrating fluctuate depending upon economic circumstances within the country and opportunities abroad. Of 2020 Irish honour degree graduates, 6% were working overseas, a decline of 3% from 2018 which may also reflect the pandemic.¹⁶³ Of the over 80,000 people who came to live in Ireland in 2016, 66% were non-Irish of whom 67.4% participated in the labour force. Immigration of non-EEA nationals for the purposes of higher education grew by 45% between 2013 and 2017.¹⁶⁴ Full-time international undergraduate and postgraduate students have continued to increase reaching approximately 25,383 in 2022, accounting for approx. 10% of total students in public HEIs.¹⁶⁵

The under-representation of women among staff in higher education, particularly at senior levels, remains a striking feature of university life despite the fact that females constitute 53% of all university students.¹⁶⁶ In 2017, only 24% of high-level professor posts were held by women; compared to 51% women lecturers, which is the entry level academic post in the university sector. The first woman appointed as a university president occurred only in 2020.¹⁶⁷ There are now three and, at the time of writing, two of the four TUs have appointed a female president.

Public expenditure on higher education has declined relative to rising student numbers despite an increase in overall spending. Ireland spent 42.1% of its education budget on preprimary and primary education, one of the highest shares in the EU (EU 34.1%), however, spending on tertiary education at 15.6% still remains below the EU average (16.4%).¹⁶⁸ The greater use of private funds, including the student contribution, has helped moderate the impact. Another modifying factor has been international students and ancillary services. However, what were envisaged as lucrative revenue streams have been badly affected by the pandemic with estimates of a loss in international student fee income and commercial losses of approx. €270m.¹⁶⁹

University rankings are often used to assess, and compare, Irish performance. However results vary considerably. Individual HEIs regularly perform differently in different rankings and against each other often within the same year because each ranking measures different aspects and has different data sources and methodology.¹⁷⁰ For example, the EU *Innovation Scorecard* names Ireland as a strong innovator having improved by almost 10% between 2012-2019.¹⁷¹ Individual researchers are named as among the top-1% in the world.¹⁷² In contrast, the three main global university rankings – ARWU, THE and QS – show Irish HEIs slipping beyond the top-100. There is a strong correlation between the performance of HEIs in global rankings and country-level variables, such as population and economic size, R&D expenditure, and English language.¹⁷³ The 2020 U21 system ranking takes a wider perspective;

it places Ireland at 19th overall but 39th out of 50 countries for the level of total resources¹¹, a fall of 23 places since 2013.¹⁷⁴ This corresponds closely to the decline in Ireland's rank for HERD as a percentage of GDP (GNP for Ireland) from 20th out of 36 countries in 2014 to 30th in 2018.¹⁷⁵ It is uncertain what impact Covid-19 will have on the meaningfulness of university rankings given the magnitude of the impact on HEIs internationally;¹⁷⁶ indeed it could be argued that rankings have incentivised HEIs to over-expand their percentage of international students with the dire consequences experienced.¹⁷⁷ There are many arguments against using rankings for any strategic or policy purposes but they are a relativity measure and tell us something about how we are doing vis-à-vis other HEIs and systems.¹²

3.2 Irish Policy Framework

Ireland has a well-developed policy framework which broadly corresponds with the policy direction of other member states of the EU and developed countries within the OECD. Policies reviewed for this paper include the *National Development Plan 2018-2027*,¹⁷⁸ *Project Ireland 2040 Building Ireland's Future*,¹⁷⁹ *Enterprise 2025 Irelands National Enterprise Policy*,¹⁸⁰ *Enterprise 2025 Renewed*,¹⁸¹ *Future FET – Transforming Learning, Ireland's National Skills Strategy 2025*,¹⁸² *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030*,¹⁸³ *Irish Educated Globally Connected: An International Education Strategy for Ireland (2016-2020*),¹⁸⁴ *Innovation 2020*,¹⁸⁵ and the *National Plan for Equity of Access to Higher Education 2015-2019*.¹⁸⁶ In addition to these, the Higher Education Futures Taskforce of the Royal Irish Academy has published five papers on the future of higher education in Ireland and Northern Ireland.¹⁸⁷ Of relevance too will be the work of the OECD on behalf of the government on a skills strategy, the report from the EU Commission on funding HE and the work of the Department of FHERIS on research classification.

Recurring themes in many of these policy documents and strategies include the central importance for personal, social and economic development of developing the skills of people living in Ireland and an acknowledgement of the dynamic nature of the skills/employment market and the global competition for talent – even if the term "war for talent" (*Ireland's National Skills Strategy 2025*) risks overstating the case. The NDP refers to the creation in Ireland of "A competitive, innovative and resilient enterprise base (that) is essential to provide the jobs and employment opportunities for people to live and prosper in all regions".

¹¹ The indicator for resources includes: Government expenditure on tertiary education institutions as a percentage of GDP, 2016; Total expenditure on tertiary education institutions as a percentage of GDP, 2016; Annual expenditure per student (full-time equivalent) by tertiary education institutions in USD purchasing power parity, 2016; Expenditure in tertiary education institutions for R&D as a percentage of GDP, 2017; Expenditure in tertiary education institutions at USD purchasing power parity, 2016; Expenditure for R&D per head of population at USD purchasing power parity, 2017.

¹² It is important to note that while attention focuses on the top-100, these HEIs account for only a tiny proportion of total students at a national or international level. Of those listed by the *Academic Ranking of World Universities*, the top-100 represent only 1.4% of total students around the world (2019). In Europe, the top-100 constitutes only 4% of the total 19.8 million EU tertiary students (2017).

The regional dimension of national social and economic development is also strongly to the fore, not surprising given the figures quoted earlier about the current dominance of the Dublin region. The ambitions for closer connectivity between regional development, enterprise, research, and education and training is well articulated in *Project Ireland 2040 Building Ireland's Future*: "Investment in enterprise will focus on boosting regional growth potential, increasing research, development and innovation, and investment in higher education and further education and training. A new €500m Disruptive Technologies Innovation Fund will drive collaboration between the research, education and enterprise sectors."

A robust education and training system is consistently seen as the key enabler of skills development, with a strong focus on a more coherent system of tertiary education where there are clear and open pathways between further education, apprenticeships and higher education and which offer students access at varying times in their lives as career and employment demands dictate.

Acknowledged too is how what is sought from our education system has broadened well beyond subject or discipline knowledge. In the words of *Project Ireland 2040 Building Ireland's Future:* "Knowledge and specialist expertise will continue to be important in the new economy but even more important will be the ability to apply that knowledge and expertise in previously unimagined ways: to be creative and inventive, to solve problems, to work collaboratively and experimentally, to think conceptually and imaginatively".

The ubiquitous influence of digitalisation is widely acknowledged and is well reflected in the statement "Digitisation is pervasive in its impact, driving transformative change across all sectors of the economy and changing the way in which companies do business, engage with customers, reach new markets and innovate." (*Enterprise 2025 Irelands National Enterprise Policy*).

Future FET – Transforming Learning presents a challenge to the HEIs in terms of their status, opportunities and relevance. The strategy lays out an ambitious and impressive agenda for year-round learning options, part-time, access to learning in "bitesize chunks", taking modules and courses that fit with the personal and working commitments of students and that enable them to build credits and credentials over time. A range of blended and online options will be accessible from an eCollege portal, it is proposed, and the strategy also proposes linking to local community and voluntary organisations to ensure that FET can understand and respond to the needs of all within the community.

The equality agenda is also strongly emphasised as in *Project Ireland 2040 Building Ireland's Future*: "Wellbeing, equality and opportunity represent the core, interdependent themes of Project Ireland 2040. Without equality we cannot have wellbeing: without opportunity we cannot have equality".

A clear conclusion from a review of selected policy documents is that policy makers have a good understanding of the global environment in which Ireland operates and the demands

dictated by that environment. It is to be hoped that such understanding is matched by a willingness and capacity to rise to the challenges and opportunities that the environment presents.

4. Implications Of Trends And National Policy For The Future Direction Of Higher Education In Ireland, And The Wider Tertiary Education System

Irish HEIs, and the tertiary education system more broadly, has shown remarkable resilience responding to the reduction in public funding since the Great Recession. They have risen also to the more immediate challenges brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic.¹⁸⁸ But the challenges of the future, arising from international and national trends, will be of a different nature and magnitude for the system and our society. The multidimensional nature of many of the social, economic and civic challenges means that they require multidisciplinary approaches, and higher education institutions are uniquely well placed to lead, develop and apply these, in partnership with others.¹⁸⁹

The value-added in the future will result from delivering high-quality education to learners from a broader array of social and economic circumstances, at all stages of life, making new discoveries and solving societal challenges, innovating more ideas and being a thought-leader, and playing an effective and responsive role in our communities and in a more complex and competitive global economy. The traditional form of higher education has remained fairly stable for decades, but the future is a different place.

Some of the key messages and challenges for Irish HEIs arising from the review of national and international trends and developments are set out below.

4.1 The international higher education landscape is increasingly competitive and open to being shaped by geo-political factors and other disruptive events

Ireland is strongly internationalised and a strong proponent of multilateralism. It is an open, interconnected and consequently interdependent society and economy. Our citizens are active around the world, playing prominent roles in all walks of life. Irish HEIs are equally internationalised – members of university networks, student, academic and professional mobility programmes, research collaborations, businesses and cultural activities. Graduates, whether they remain in Ireland or travel, work or live abroad, are global citizens. Being part of the European Union is vital but it is no longer sufficient for success.

The international landscape is much more competitive and multipolar. HEIs are highly collaborative but they and their countries are also simultaneously competitors. Many more HEIs are now active and successful players more than ever before. Some of them have considerably more public and private resources. The changing geography of the global talent
pool is raising the competitive stakes in terms of recruiting, retaining and attracting talent as well as opportunities for our graduates. The balkanization of the global economy into rival trading blocs, alongside protectionist measures, will impact on international students but more broadly on education and research collaborations creating volatility and difficulty for Ireland and Irish HEIs in planning for the future and managing risk.

Quality will be an even sharper driver and differentiator in the future. Global rankings are an imperfect measure but they have succeeded in showing us that international comparisons of university performance and quality have become useful measures of assurance for society, students, employers and others. At the global level, they are an indicator of national competitiveness.

Building on Ireland's international standing, we need to sharpen our collective approach to compete successfully. A strategy based on a more joined-up system is necessary rather than individual institutional or departmental and agency strategies that lack international heft and effectively compete with each other at considerable expense.

4.2 Steering the Higher Education System

The Higher Education Authority Bill 2022 contains important provisions for the higher education institutions. It is likely the Bill will be enacted by year's end with relatively little amendment as there is no significant parliamentary opposition to the measures. This may be due in part to the fact that the Bill, to a substantial degree, does no more than place on a statutory basis what the HEA has been doing on an administrative basis for some years. In the current legal and administrative environment exercising significant functions without legal authority is a precarious endeavour for a regulatory body, and has proven to be so for the HEA.

The objects of the Bill broadly cover what the HEA already does, but calls out specifically areas such as assessing institutional performance and the needs of students being the primary consideration. Equally, the functions set out in section 9 do little more than give statutory backing to functions that the HEA has long exercised. That said, it is noteworthy that the role of the HEA in planning the overall higher education research system is specifically provided for. This has the potential to provide for a coherent and co-ordinated national policy for the conduct of research in HEIs – a much needed initiative to coordinate the work of the HEA, IRC, SFI, HRB and others.

The Bill goes on to provide a statutory basis for the access plan, the provision of advice to the Minister, the conduct of research and the collection and sharing of data.

In addition to copper-fastening current HEA and Ministerial roles, the Bill contains provisions which have important implications for policy development, steering the system, governance and for the development and regulation of private higher education (see 4.3 for PHE).

• Policy and steering

The requirement on the Minister to set out a strategy for further and higher education (s33) at least every 10 years should ensure on-going broad policy debate and replacing the current more ad hoc and reactive approach to policy and strategy development in Irish higher education. It is an extraordinary fact that the *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030*, published in 2011, is the only formal and comprehensive strategy for the sector since the foundation of the State – and of course there has been no further such strategy in the decade since. With this paper BH Associates hopes to support and encourage wider and deeper reflection and debate about the policy direction of Irish higher education.

• Governance

Through the legislation, it is proposed to put in place what is termed "a co-regulation model of governance". This model was outlined in a Department of Education Consultation Report published in July 2019 and is described as providing

that the HEI has primary responsibility for governance within an overall performance and regulatory framework which includes a clear accountability and reporting requirement to the HEA. The HEA has an oversight role to ensure HEI compliance with the performance and regulatory framework and only intervenes if there is non-compliance with this framework.

On the face of it, this statement reflects a long-standing approach to institutional autonomy matched with accountability in Irish higher education. It is when one reviews the provisions of the Bill which set out when the HEA "intervenes" that concerns about autonomy and governance arise. For the first time since it was established, the HEA has wide ranging powers to set conditions to its funding and can require that those conditions be adhered to. If not, the CEO may issue directives to the governing body of a HEI to take such actions as are considered appropriate. If these are not complied with the HEA can take further "remedial" actions set out in some detail in section 42. Part 8 of the Bill, providing for the conduct of a review of a HEI by a person appointed by the CEO of the HEA are, potentially, even more intrusive on autonomy, albeit surrounded with safeguards and appeal processes. The provisions relate to "the governance of a designated institution of higher education or the performance by such an institution of its functions or compliance by it with its obligations including, but not limited to, compliance with any guidelines, codes or policies" – in effect the totality of a HEIs activities.

Combined these provisions will greatly increase the powers of the HEA and the Minister to intervene to direct the internal affairs of an institution. As such, they can be seen as a logical conclusion of the "scandals" real and manufactured aired at the Committee of Public Accounts in recent years. In themselves, they present no immediate threat to autonomy and appear proportionate in the context of protecting public funding, the reputation of the higher education sector and the broader public interest. However, they carry a risk that they may be overused. On the other hand, the Minister/HEA have long had some similar powers in

respect of institutes of technology with no obvious evidence of their misuse. Perhaps the sector can rest easy!

4.3 Ireland is privileged by student demand but this is forestalling closer scrutiny of demographic and learner trends

As the economy and labour market evolves in response to global and technological changes, society and individuals across Ireland will have emergent and different education and training needs. In the future, demand will increasingly come from currently under-served sections of society and those who are first-in-family. In addition to school leavers, demand will also come from mature and life-long learners, people requiring new/additional skills and knowledge over their lifetime, and increasing internationalisation.¹⁹⁰ At the same time, global competitive pressures will require that educational provision continues to evolve so that Ireland can remain a dynamic producer of new knowledge, with graduates who are innovation savvy and capable of living and working successfully into the next century.

These trends point to the necessity of thinking much more imaginatively about the role, structure and organisation of higher education. Demographic growth, which has led to increasing participation amongst traditional 18-21-year olds, has created a linear educational structure whereby students' progress from primary to secondary to tertiary and then into work. Arguably, the steady growth of school leavers has provided Irish HEIs with a ready supply of students, allowing them to ignore changing societal needs.

But the future will be different – indeed in many respects the future has already arrived. To help stave off a demographic ageing crisis alongside a skilled labour shortage in the aftermath of the pandemic – challenges being experienced also by other European societies,"¹⁹¹ – changes that go far beyond Springboard initiatives are required.

Demand will come from younger and older workers already in employment seeking to reenter education and training in order to change direction. Reskilling, upskilling and repurposing qualifications will coincide with concerted efforts to help overcome generational inequalities and disadvantage according to socio-economic, race, ethnicity, regional and digital-divide factors. And, as people live actively for longer, HEIs will need to genuinely embed a lifelong learning approach and respond to on-going requirements for education and training as the norm.

Increasing participation is not the same as widening participation. Yet, despite years of initiatives the challenge of unequal access to educational opportunities remains unresolved. The aim is to reach out to people and communities for whom education beyond second level, or indeed compulsory school attendance, is seen as neither culturally nor practically viable and those who feel deeply alienated from society.

As the learner population changes, a more coordinated but flexible approach to educational opportunities and progression, to enable people to come in and out of the system must be

adopted. The objective of raising higher education attainment will reflect changing societal and labour market needs as well as different learner needs, interests and personal circumstances. But as demand continues to rise we must also recognise that the future will bring about many alternative tertiary options over the next decades.¹⁹²

4.4 Time to rethink the model of education provision for "high participation societies"

Near universal participation in tertiary education has been a huge achievement for Ireland. The most visible form of this expansion is the increase in the number of students and institutions of higher education alongside a maturing further education sector.¹⁹³ Yet, despite this expansion, the model of education provision has remained relatively unchanged as if it was still a system catering to a small elite. Digitalisation and the move to hybrid learning – discussed below – is only one aspect of the type of change required. But, much more radical thinking is required with regard to how we design, organise, deliver and assess higher education and its relationship to other forms of tertiary education and training.

For example, educational policy and the structure of education programmes are based on full-time study. Institutions are effectively penalised if they fail to produce sufficient graduates who graduate within a set-time frame, and funding for part-time students can be difficult to find. We measure outcomes narrowly in terms of graduates working in fields directly related to the course of study. And too much attention is given to staff-student ratios which reflect a romantic idea of small groups of class-room based learners – whereas mass participation higher education is eroding this model.

While teaching and learning is no longer chalk and talk, Irish students still embark on a set programme of learning with designated entry and exit points. And, the academic year continues to run primarily from September to May. But this leaves campuses relatively quiet the rest of the year, and often Friday-Sunday during term time. There is no educational reason for these practices and it is an inefficient use of expensive infrastructure and human resources.

Changes in the structure of the academic year to provide year-round provision for all ages could facilitate learners who wish to adjust their study to fit in with changing life circumstances and/or to reduce the opportunity cost of education through earlier graduation and to widen opportunities for other learners, both domestic and international, to participate. The introduction of a third/summer semester would be an easy win.

There is often a tetchiness about associating university education with the world of work but the split between academic and vocational is increasingly less relevant. Boundaries between the workplace or community as a learning site and HEIs are becoming more porous and this should be accelerated. Work-based/work-informed learning, competency-based education (CBE), new forms of apprenticeship, innovative modes of delivery and assessment, learner and career pathways, shorter and different types of courses/programmes and new forms of modularised and micro-credential are becoming increasingly attractive to traditional and non-traditional students.

In a world gone global, the Bologna Process and the formation of the European Education Area (EEA)¹⁹⁴ (incorporating the EHEA and ERA) provide the basis for a coherent educational roadmap for students and other stakeholders. Some of the objectives around mobility and credit transfer have yet to be fully realised, but Ireland can learn from this experience. Guided and Navigable Learning Pathways could facilitate a more diverse student cohort helping learners map out educationally coherent pathways between, or within, different institutions¹³ and onwards to a chosen career. Credit transfer systems¹⁹⁵ and digital credentialing can facilitate mobility and allow learners to accumulate credits over time according to their circumstances. It should incorporate non-formal and informal learning. We could use this experience to develop a coherent and genuinely integrated educational experience within a quality-assured single framework to make us internationally competitive. Ireland should take guidance from the above mentioned new EU initiatives which promote more flexible and transnational cooperative arrangements.

We should also be looking at the curriculum development process itself. At a guestimate, the timeline from ideation to (re)design, internal quality assurance, student entry and progression to graduation and into the labour force, and student feedback could take approximately 7-8 years. By this time the economy and job opportunities will have changed, in some cases very dramatically – as we are currently witnessing. The current process is no longer fit for purpose given the accelerated pace of change in the labour market.

As we rethink programmes and institutional practices it is clear that greater commitment to flexibility and responsiveness is required. Students should be empowered to tailor their entry, exit, assessment and qualifications to their personally determined needs rather than being required to fit a standardised model. These developments will facilitate a shift from traditional time-served to just-in-time education with implications for the organisation of the institutions and academic practices. There are also significant implications for rethinking pedagogy, moving beyond the more incremental change we are familiar with through the various teaching and learning initiatives but much more radical change which befits a high-participation system.

Irish HEIs have been too slow to respond to these changes, doing so only when prompted by government initiatives. But unless they are more pro-active, they risk being overtaken by alternative/corporate certification programmes.

To better reflect the flexible tertiary system we want and require, the funding model for our institutions needs to change to both reflect and drive changed circumstances and objectives. Neither students nor institutions should be punished because they choose to leave a

¹³ Learning pathways should provide a coherent system-level approach which goes far beyond bilateral articulation agreements between higher and further education institutions.

programme early or switch partially through the programme. Instead their time spent should be recognised as valuable with the student able to obtain and carry credits to their next choice whenever and wherever.

4.5 How do we plan for the future if we don't know what we are doing

Good strategic management of the higher education and research system, and its institutions and agencies, relies upon having a reliable and common information system. Without a system for collecting, processing, analysing and reporting on data (qualitative and quantitative) it is extremely difficult to know how well Ireland, and its institutions, are doing against its own objectives and to advocate and plan accordingly. The system should also be open to public scrutiny; this way everyone knows what's happening thus engendering public trust and support.

The HEA oversees the Student Record System (SRS) and produces interactive reports and analysis on student enrolment, performance, completions, and graduate outcomes but has no information on staff or other aspects of higher education, and has begun to publish the *HEA Quarterly Statistics Newsletter*.¹⁹⁶ The performance framework and strategic dialogue process, currently under review, relies primarily on self-reported information using highly variable data definitions. The only HE/national bibliometric data is produced by SFI but that reflects its own disciplinary coverage. HERD measures expenditure and human resources devoted to research work¹⁹⁷ and KTI which captures technology and knowledge transfer.¹⁹⁸ In parallel, there are three separate surveys: a survey of student engagement, a graduate outcomes survey and an employer survey.

Essentially Ireland collects bits of information but it is all held in different systems controlled by different departments and agencies, and the systems don't communicate with each other. This explains heavy reliance on institutional self-reported or survey data. Not only is the approach to research and scholarship narrowly conceived but it is out of step with international discussions around responsible metrics, Altmetrics or developments in open science.¹⁹⁹ There are implications also for how and what scholarship is valued, with knock-on implications for academic careers. Indeed, the absence of meaningful data leaves Ireland and its HEIs vulnerable to the vagaries of university rankings, whose methodologies, data definitions and data are continually criticised.

Discussions have been going on in fora over the years with evidence of some acceleration in recent months. DFHERIS has launched a public consultation with respect to a National Research Classification System,²⁰⁰ and the IUA is looking at data capacity and metrics. Individual institutions are busy purchasing Elsevier's PURE system.

None of these actions suggest a joined-up strategic approach to critical infrastructure. Indeed, the absence of a comprehensive approach to information and data severely undermines the level of strategic governance appropriate for national or institutional level decision-making and strategic planning – with the capability to track and compare.

The EU acknowledged that having different systems each collecting different pieces of information with none talking to each other does not constitute a good practice.²⁰¹ This is why the pledge to establish a European Higher Education Sector Observatory to combine existing "EU data tools and capacities²⁰² in one single place...." is potentially very significant.²⁰³

Ireland would do well to draw lessons and inspiration from this decision.

4.6 Ireland is playing catch-up in the digital revolution

The surge to digital platforms and ODL provision which we have just witnessed has been hugely impressive. Irish HEIs have rightly won praise for rapidly changing their educational format from on-campus to on-line. Irish students, as well as their fellow students in other countries, readily accepted and adapted to the emergency nature of the shift to on-line teaching with varying experiences.²⁰⁴ But an emergency response is not equivalent to high-quality on-line or blended learning.²⁰⁵

Open and distance learning is not a replacement for the on-campus experience. Rather, it is its own unique learning culture – one in which students can actively engage and learn in different ways and in ways which would otherwise be unavailable to them. The on-campus experience of students remains an important element of the university experience, especially for younger students, providing them with the opportunities to acquire and practice social skills, develop networks and expose them to different ideas, ideologies and cultures.

As the experience of the Open University and similar institutions demonstrate,²⁰⁶ there should be no significant quality difference between distance teaching and classroom instruction in achieving student learning outcomes such as self-directed learning and critical thinking.²⁰⁷ A blended physical and on-line learning environment, underpinned by innovative pedagogical principles, is likely to be attractive to a wider range of learners and meet student expectations and needs. Hybrid teaching is also more inclusive, enabling *all* students to :interact and engage with each other, in real time sometimes, but more often than not asynchronously: individuals and groups of students with their devices on campus, in classrooms and in new learning spaces, together with individuals and groups of students and external quality assurance should ensure quality regardless of format.²⁰⁹

Digital transformation is more than teaching and learning. It concerns the entire way in which HEIs use digital technologies. It is much more about the way we work than simply the technologies we use. It refers to the way in which HEIs use technology to innovate, simplify, and improve. It can aid student achievement and enhance the student experience, support the academic endeavour and research as well as strengthen strategic planning and decision-making.²¹⁰ As such there are capacity-building and training implications.

Any chance of competing successfully in the 21st century requires a step-change in Ireland's approach to ODL.²¹¹ A systemic and strategic approach will be necessary rather than each institution developing its own approach and competing with each other, and the world. It goes without saying that a sustainable business case is essential. Failure to operate at an internationally competitive level – even for our own students – has implications for Ireland's future attractiveness and sustainability.²¹² Achieving high-quality ODL is not however a cheap(er) option nor should quality be sacrificed for efficiency.²¹³

4.7 Achieving a well-functioning national research system

The Irish research, science and innovation landscape – with the help of the HEA, SFI, and IRC along with PRTLI and EU funding – has been transformed in the years since the millennium. The research base has expanded significantly with evidence of critical mass as well as pockets of excellence. The underlying ambition of research policy in the State has been towards positioning Ireland's research system as a European, even a global, leader. *Innovation 2020* is unambiguous in declaring its desire to see Ireland as a global innovation leader. Our economic sustainability requires nothing less.

But many key issues remain to be addressed. Building on what we know about international competitiveness in global research, national priorities and regional disparities what should our focus be? What is the best balance between institutional and national strengths? How can research, development and innovation (RDI) help bridge regional disparities? What focus should there be on working with SMEs which account for 99.8% of all enterprise and employ almost 70% of all workers in Ireland?²¹⁴

Covid-19 has had a positive effect on how people view science and scientific discovery but there is a risk that excessive focus on medical and biological science will be at the expense of a more holistic approach to research and innovation. After all, the social sciences, humanities and cultural disciplines are critical to our understanding as to how we are going to live with in the aftermath of this pandemic whilst preparing the next, the changing world of work, climate change and sustainability, and other global challenges. If recent events have taught us anything, it is that societal challenges transcend disciplines, individual research teams and institutions.²¹⁵ Some approaches that present themselves include more focus on clustering and challenge-based collaborative centres, efforts to achieve a better balance between social and technological innovation²¹⁶ and building a sustainable researcher pipeline to strengthen Ireland's attractiveness to international researchers. We also need to think about the way in which research is assessed. Where and how we invest limited funds and issues of equality, diversity and inclusion of people and disciplines are critical to success. As the HERG report recommends, "a mission-oriented approach can enable a balance between directed research activity on specified needs and researchers responding to the overarching mission, with creative exploratory research that can generate previously unimagined solutions and opportunities."²¹⁷

Significant investment in research infrastructure has been made by individual HEIs and other organisations over the last decades. A genuine commitment to open access and open science, which incorporates the public sector and public libraries, should be a core feature.¹⁴ Facilitating the widest possible access to this research infrastructure is essential to achieve the greatest return on investment and value for money for the country and for the research community in general.

Heretofore, Ireland has had individual agency strategies. But without an integrated national policy and research system Ireland will continue to struggle.

The creation of a government department covering further and higher education, research, innovation and science is especially timely. Bringing together the Higher Education Authority, including the Irish Research Council, and Science Foundation Ireland under one Minister with one budget line can only enhance effectiveness and efficiencies and strengthen higher education based research with clear regard to the broader needs of the sector, the individual institutions and overall national policy. And, because global rankings measure university-based research, this approach could also strengthen our global positioning and competitiveness.

4.8 Being placed-based and globally-competitive

Higher education has a very large role to play in helping build sustainable communities. Project Ireland 2040: National Development Plan 2018-2027 identifies the importance of education and skills not only for attracting FDI but strengthening Irish SMEs and contributing to social and cultural life throughout the country.²¹⁸ Graduates are smart, creative individuals with knowledge and competences, who can lead and catalyse the long-term provision of knowledge and ideas through research and discovery, and are technologically savvy and innovative. There is a huge inter-dependence between economic growth and innovation, and knowledge and skills, the latter of which derive from, and depend upon, people with skills relevant to regional and national economies.²¹⁹ Regional sustainability is more than economic impact. HEIs make an enormous contribution to all the social, cultural, intellectual and environmental aspects of society which in turn make a vital contribution to our quality of life and our well-being. They play a key role as civic HEIs, working collaboratively with each other and other educational institutions, businesses and civil society to make their communities more sustainable.²²⁰ Whether it is boosting productivity and trade, supporting educational attainment and skills, tackling inequalities between and within regions or protecting vulnerable people, HEIs play an indispensable role in helping communities overcome the multiple challenges they face.

¹⁴ See the Scottish Higher Education Digital Library (SHEDL) and Bibsam Sweden: the consortium of University and Research libraries.

The pandemic has illustrated more than at any other time the importance of rebalancing Irish society towards a more harmonious relationship between the local, national and international and the role of Irish HEIs in this process. Understanding the totality of the value and benefits that derives from transnational cooperation forms a key aspect of the EU *Strategy for Universities* and the *Council Recommendation on building bridges for effective European education cooperation*.²²¹ Unfortunately, Irish policy remains one of seeing international students as "cash cows" with an emphasis on "cost effectiveness and economic impacts".²²² It is perhaps unfair to blame the Indecon report when the terms of reference were focused exclusively on mobility and the income generated.

So, where should Ireland be focusing its internationalisation policy? What are we trying to achieve? No doubt social, cultural and educational exchange is an important objective of transnational cooperation and vital for Ireland's competitiveness. But focusing solely on growing international students as a percentage of total enrolments misses the bigger picture – and arguably left Irish HEIs financially exposed when the pandemic hit. There is lots of jargon about the importance of global citizenship but outbound Irish Erasmus students comprise less than 2% of the total full- and part-time students enrolled across all government-aided HEIs.²²³ This reflects international evidence that degree mobility is limited. According to Eurostat, only 1.3m out of a total 17.5m tertiary students in the EU are undertaking their studies in a Member State other than the country where they had completed their secondary education.²²⁴ So how do we ensure that internationalisation is not simply another benefit for an elite sub-set of students, faculty and institutions?

Ireland can begin by embracing the structural and operational issues that can unblock barriers to transnational cooperation by, inter alia, changing quality assurance arrangements to more easily enable the delivery and recognition of joint educational programmes and joint degrees, interdisciplinary modules, embedded mobility opportunities, joint work through challengebased approaches, etc.

Fundamentally, internationalisation needs to move from the periphery to becoming a core activity of higher education. If the rise of neo-nationalism, the intensification of geo-political tensions and the pandemic have taught us anything it is that the benefits of the global and intercultural must become genuinely embedded holistically across the whole institution as a learning outcome for all.²²⁵ We should stimulate global learning for all by paying more attention to the internationalization of the curriculum, embracing COIL (collaborative on-line learning), internationalizing teacher and foreign language education, and integrating internationalization initiatives with other efforts to reach the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).²²⁶

Too often collaboration at the local and regional level is seen as less significant or noteworthy than collaboration internationally. Too often HEIs are discouraged from focusing on local impact, based on out-dated perceptions of status hierarchy which places global at the apex and local at the bottom. Focussing on the needs of place can be a significant facet of university strategic positioning as evidenced by many successful applications for European University

recognition.²²⁷ Because pronouncements in mission statements and strategy documents are not enough, the role of tertiary institutions as anchor institutions in their regions, and the societal impact and benefit that derives, are increasingly used as measures of quality and excellence as well as a differentiator in the competitive HE landscape.²²⁸ The appointment and promotion system, including the indicators used to evaluate university performance and research, should be revised to fully recognise the value and diversity of academic contribution to place across all disciplines.

4.9 Strengthening the steering core and academic heartland

The greatest asset of an HEI is the quality of its people. This affects the quality of its education, its graduates, its research and above all its contribution to society. While much discussion about challenges focus on senior leadership, we tend to ignore that some of the heaviest lifting is undertaken by heads of school or department or similar posts across academic and research management. They are responsible, at a very practical day-to-day level, for dealing with the pressures of a mass and diverse system, on-going challenges associated with resources and resourcing and emergency responses to Covid-19. They are also the pipeline for the future.

Administrative, technical, maintenance and professional staff are too frequently overlooked – sometimes by other colleagues. Yet, these are the people who ensure the university works as everyone wants and expects it to. They are core to the ability of an HEI to successfully achieve its mission and ambitions. Their responsibilities cross every aspect of corporate, academic, research, engagement, teaching and learning, IT systems, library and student services, sports and cultural activities, facilities and so on. As such, they should be seen as co-equal partners in achieving the academic mission of the institutions.

Neither would the university exist without its academics and researchers – who are the "academic heartland".²²⁹ Changes in the student cohort and the way in which education provision is organised is impacting on the academic profession. This is the subject of on-going commentary and research covering changes to career opportunities, expectations and contracts, matters of gender bias and insufficient diversity, and changes to the teaching and learning environment.

Ironically, we probably spend more time talking about HEIs producing human capital but too little time thinking about the human capital of our HEIs. HEIs have large multi-million budgets which necessitate a high level of professionalism appropriate for any modern global organisation. As the stakes rise in higher education and research, and resources are more constrained, the capacity of the university to meet challenges, to be innovative and entrepreneurial, and to stay ahead of the curve becomes more important than ever. Ireland would do well to take stock of reforms proposed by Dutch public knowledge institutions and funders of research to recognise "everyone's talents".²³⁰ Succession and renewal are vital if our HEIs are to remain a key driver of Ireland's future.

4.10 It is time to recognise the contribution of private higher education

Over recent decades, significant growth has occurred in private higher education (PHE) internationally. PHE has expanded to meet and absorb demand in response to demographic pressures and on-going massification, continuing transition to knowledge-intensive economies and changes to the labour market, the expansion in lifelong learning, as well as the contraction of public budgets.

Ireland, like the rest of Western Europe, has a predominantly publicly funded higher education system. In contrast to Europe, private higher education elsewhere plays a significant role in educational provision. For example, Australia has a large private sector in both higher and further education. The sector was promoted and enabled to grow rapidly to respond to the positioning of education to be one of Australia's largest export sectors. There is now a single quality assurance framework for public and private providers. Japan also has for a long time had a large state-regulated private sector, alongside a smaller and elite public university sector. Chile has one of the largest market-based private system of higher education systems in the world.²³¹

Although still a small sub-sector here, PHE has been a growing component of provision in Ireland. It constitutes a very diverse group, providing specialist education in public administration and business, medicine, and other health-related professions, teaching and ICT, in addition to a wide-range of undergraduate and post-graduate programmes. Estimates suggest that PHE providers enroll about 10% of HE students in Ireland. PHE providers have been included in specified skills/re-training programmes as a response to the 2008 economic crisis. They have participated in the Labour Market Activation Fund, 2010, and subsequently in the Springboard programmes since 2011 where PHE has provided about 50% of all places. The PHE sector is also active in international recruitment and participates in government-led missions abroad.

The *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030* (2011) discusses the role of private higher education in terms of providing specialist programmes, meeting unmet future demand as well as being part of Ireland's internationalisation strategy. It also speaks of the possible expansion of the PHE sector.

In respect of private institutions, it will be open to the HEA to commission teaching and learning activity on an economic cost basis to meet identified priorities within any regional cluster. Independent providers, including those in the 'for-profit' sector will be free to tender for provision on these identified needs basis. Any such providers should be subject to the new national quality assurance processes.

It is likely that, over the period of this strategy, this sector will grow, particularly with the possible entry of large international higher education providers into the Irish market. This growth has the potential to add significantly to the overall capacity of the system to meet growing demand for higher education. This sector also offers an opportunity to periodically reassess the value for money and effectiveness of public providers; where private providers can offer better value for money, the State should consider using them to deliver on its objectives. It would be necessary, however, to safeguard against any negative impact on quality.

While there are legal restrictions on the use of the 'university' title by education providers in Ireland, the regulatory framework governing entry to the Irish market by higher education providers will need development in order to ensure that overall quality is maintained (p. 108).²³²

Investing in Ambition. A Strategy for Funding Higher Education (2016) was of the view that

... private institutions can and should make up a greater share of the overall system. The *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030* envisaged a greater role for private institutions in the future, specifically in terms of bidding for state-funded student places in areas of identified need. This did happen through the Springboard programme and ICT Conversion Programmes. The sector has demonstrated its willingness and capacity to respond to national needs, and it can play a vital role in meeting additional demand in coming years through programmes of this nature. The sector has also demonstrated its commitment to quality and high standards—student outcomes under the Springboard programme were strong and the sector works constructively with QQI to ensure a strong quality regulatory framework is in place (p. 48).²³³

The report also suggests that when deliberating on funding for part-time students, the extension of financial support to students in private institutions should also be considered (p.46).

More recently, *Irish Educated. Globally Connected. An International Education Strategy for Ireland, 2016-2020* has spoken of the need for "internationally-oriented globally competitive higher education institutions" without distinguishing between public and PHE.

The Higher Education Authority Bill 2022 has important implications for PHE in the provisions relating to designated institutions of higher education. These provisions open the way for PHE institutions to join the regulatory and reporting system for Irish higher education. Although designated HE status confers no entitlement to funding, the Bill provides at section 37 powers to the HEA to fund a wider group of institutions, whether or not designated. The clear advantage of being a designated HEI for PHE institutions is the status it confers and the potential for marketing nationally and internationally. The downside may be the regulatory regime that designation brings with it.

The Bill's proposals mark a significant advance in creating a more coherent and co-ordinated higher education system encompassing private and public providers. However, what is still lacking is an overarching policy for higher education where the role and contribution of PHE to national objectives would be placed in a strategic context with the role and contribution of

the public HEIs. Crucially, absent also is any proposal to include eligible students in PHE institutions in the SUSI and other student support programmes. This is an issue of fairness and equity that must be dealt with if PHE is to play its fullest role in meeting our higher education and training needs.

4.11 Further Education and Training (FET)

In the next section we comment on the development of a co-ordinated tertiary education system. Further education and training (FET) is a core part of that and has made a considerable contribution to Irish society and economy over many decades. It has been the basis of rewarding careers for thousands of its graduates, and continues to be so. And yet in our rush to increase the numbers of people in higher education have we given sufficient attention to those who do not attend higher education.²³⁴ One thing is clear, we cannot allow a survival-of-the-fittest approach to dominate policy.

In the post compulsory education and training system and in society generally, FET suffers from a lower status than higher education, as do the careers it leads to. That this needs not be so is well demonstrated by the experience in other European countries, with Germany an often quoted example. The reasons lie in poor communication and lack of appreciation of the careers that FET offers, but above all prejudice in Irish society. The OECD has noted: "Enrolment in FET programmes among both youth and adults was below OECD averages and the sector suffered from a lack of parity of esteem."²³⁵

If we are to provide for the wide range of skills that our society and economy needs, FET must be a central part of our education and training system. The SOLAS strategy, *Future FET: Transforming Learning: The National Further Education and Training Strategy,* sets out a number of areas of focus to bring FET centre stage in the education and training system. They include -

- Simplify FET by offering clear pathways into FET, within FET and from FET.
- Schools could offer modules and tasters of vocational courses to second-level students, in order to overcome the lack of exposure to FET.
- Offering Level 5 and Level 6 modules as an integrated part of the senior cycle should be investigated as part of the NCCA senior cycle review.
- The potential for apprenticeship taster offerings as part of Transition Year.
- The development of support resources to help teachers explain future opportunities to students, with the deployment of FET and apprenticeship ambassadors to build interest in vocational pathways.
- Consider how FET works in the context of the CAO as the major focal point for each cohort of school leavers.

It is important that policy and funding practices support the development of a comprehensive and well-co-ordinated further and higher education system. The creation of the Department of Further and Higher Education, Research, Innovation and Science is a positive step. So too is the policy focus on creating pathways from FET to HE to ensure that there are few, if any, cul-de-sacs in the system. However, there is a risk that FET is presented as a route to higher education rather than an education and training destination in itself, further strengthening existing prejudices.

Overall, Irish society demonstrates a strong (maybe insatiable) appetite for higher education. If we are to redirect the education and training system into a more balanced FE/HE system, radical approaches may be necessary. Consideration could be given to limiting the number of places in HEIs, or limiting the number of publicly funded places, in order to cool demand for HE and re-direct students towards FET. Another approach would see some, or all, the years of study in HE carrying fees while access to FET is free. No course of action is free of risk or controversy. However, present policies will bring about the re-balancing needed only after a prolonged period, if at all. Can we afford to wait?

4.12 Ensuring a more co-ordinated tertiary system

Ireland has expanded its higher education system to include universities, institutes of technology and technological universities. This is facilitating widespread access across a wider range of institutions and educational opportunities. In recent years consolidation and reconfiguration of further education, under the leadership of SOLAS, has created a vibrant tertiary system. As a result of these developments, the character of tertiary education and society and student's expectations have changed.

There is increasing focus on ensuring that the tertiary system creates the level of connectivity and complementarity between further and higher education and research required to meet the needs of the 21st century. The aim is to broaden the range of educational opportunities which facilitate greater flexibility to enable learners to progress through a more diverse set of tertiary education opportunities and experiences, best suited to their stage of development, interest and life-circumstances. There is great value in creating and maintaining greater porosity between further and higher education and greater coherence between research policy and structures.

As already noted, private higher education providers are something of a Cinderella in our system, by times tolerated or ignored but rarely positioned as a key component of a healthy system. As the private higher education sector takes on a more active role, it is timely to consider its contribution, role and responsibilities within the Irish tertiary education landscape.²³⁶

Thinking in terms of the tertiary system enables us to put the learner at the centre rather than the institutions. It focuses on how learners can access different learning experiences and institutions to meet their circumstances over time. There are significant implications for pedagogy, assessment and teaching and learning.

We should seek a more effective way of recognising both public and private benefits and translating that into a fair(er) distribution of costs given other demands from other equally important areas of Irish society.

A strength of our HEIs has been their individual comprehensiveness. Among the benefits has been the fact that a high proportion of students can study in their local institution. However, it is increasingly difficult (and expensive) for each institution to be comprehensively excellent. Greater specialisation and the removal of unnecessary duplication of programmes offers the opportunity for better use of resources, improvement in quality and strengthening competitiveness.

It should be possible to identify a more efficient and effective use of resources to obviate the dangers of a "survival-of-the-fittest" approach between HEIs and between higher and further education. We should get a better-bang-for-our-buck through more, unified structures and mechanisms, especially with regard to highly competitive areas such as ODL, digital libraries and research as well as back-office functions. It should be possible to bring our institutions into a much more coherent system providing for these functions as well as addressing unnecessary duplication of programmes. As an example of what is possible, we could look to the State University of New York (SUNY) with its 62 universities, community colleges and research institutes.²³⁷

The challenge is to maximise our collective capacity beyond our individual capacities. Pleas for more funding, less regulation and more respect for autonomy are likely to get a far better hearing from the government and the public if they are combined with a demonstrated willingness on the part of the HEIs and other colleges to see themselves as central players in finding solutions to the fundamental challenges they now face.

4.13 But what about funding the system?

Funding models beget the system and if the future reality is different, then the funding model needs to change accordingly. Currently, it is too focused on traditional 18-year-olds pursuing a programme, beginning to end, and fails to recognise the greater flexibility required for different types of learners pursuing different types of programmes over their lifetime.²³⁸ And, despite increases for targeted initiatives, public expenditure on higher education remains low in spite of growing number of students; "cuts to core third-level funding during the economic crisis of 2008 have never been reversed, leading to a growing reliance on attracting international students".²³⁹

The National Plan for Equity of Access to Higher Education 2015-2019 states: "As a country we have everything to gain and nothing to lose by increasing levels of participation in higher education among all Irish citizens."²⁴⁰ Policy choices are one factor influencing how much we

as a country spend and where and how funds are raised. But other factors also affect how we best use the resources we have in order to achieve the outcomes we want.²⁴¹

The report of the Review of the Allocation Model for Funding Higher Education Institutions by the Independent Expert Panel of the HEA published in December 2017 makes an important contribution to the application and use of existing funding and more effective funding models. It states that the panel wished the report to serve as a lever for significant change in key areas that have a lasting impact on the nature of the system, the way it supports students and generates the outcomes needed for Ireland to flourish as a society and an economy. If fully implemented, the panel believed the review proposals offered a future vision to embed lifelong learning; recognise and respond to the demographic challenges and changing patterns of student demand; reinforce the critical importance of access to higher education in driving social and economic progress; acknowledge the importance of research and innovation in underpinning excellence in higher education; ensure that funding can be channelled effectively to support skills development and reward institutions for delivering outcomes and impact. These are entirely laudable objectives. The level of funding for higher education was outside the panel's terms of reference, but having analysed system finances, operations, performance and outcomes, it was their clear view that Ireland cannot continue to increase student numbers without a commensurate increase in investment.

Given the many challenges known and unknown and hence financial pressures on the public purse, it is hardly a time to consider eliminating the student contribution to fees as some have proposed. While there are policy reasons for doing so, there is a very poor prospect of the government being in a position anytime soon to make up for the loss, never mind provide the several hundred million euros an underfunded system already needs. It has also been the experience of higher education that in time of financial crisis HEIs are a prime target for funding cuts. The current student contribution provides some protection.

Cognisant of the exercise currently being undertaken by DPER with respect to the *Investing in National Ambition: A Strategy for Funding Higher Education*,²⁴² isn't it time to think outside the box?

An option which could have provided (and perhaps still can) a solution is an income contingent loan scheme. The student loan issue has been mishandled from the start with a lack of political, and hence public, understanding that there are different models. The term has been used generically thus conflating the US mortgage-type model with the incomecontingent loan (ICL) model. Differences between different ICL models have also been ignored; thus, the UK and Australia models have been confused. It is difficult to see how this issue can now be rectified politically given the level of misinformation, opportunism, misunderstanding and misrepresentation to the public of what a well-structured loan scheme could achieve. This well has probably been poisoned politically but we should not conclude, yet, that such a scheme cannot be designed and implemented with a well-developed public information campaign at its heart. Another option worth considering is to develop a funding approach which would target specific learner cohorts, for example students accessing courses at Levels 5-7 NFQ. This would help widen access and broaden tertiary education options, and also direct funding to students most in need.

5. Propositions For The Future Development Of The Policy Framework For Higher Education With A Particular Focus On The Development Of An Integrated And Cohesive System

In a time of great societal challenges, higher education should be front and centre in supporting society to meet them. But such challenges also call for the adoption of effective national policy and strategic choices to help shape the direction of the sector for the future.²⁴³

Drawing from the earlier elements of this paper, this section concludes with **21 Propositions** – grouped under four headings – that could form the basis for strengthening the quality, competitiveness and sustainability of Irish higher education and research.

Each proposition is like an onion, capable of being unravelled and dissected. They are presented here to challenge current thinking and provoke debate and discussion; they are not presented as ready-made recommendations. Nor, is this a comprehensive list.¹⁵

There are three dominant messages.

First, a system approach can deliver the greatest collective impact and economies of scale in order to provide the best opportunities and benefits for students and Irish society. Second, change is coming. Ireland is either in the vanguard of change or it will be left behind. Third, we need to refocus on how we view higher education and the wider tertiary education system by looking at it through an equity and inclusiveness lens. The present system – to a very great extent – perpetuates past privilege. Having a shared inclusive vision of the way forward is essential.

DEVELOPING A CO-ORDINATED, COLLABORATIVE HIGHER EDUCATION, RESEARCH AND INNOVATION SYSTEM

 The creation of the Department of Further and Higher Education, Research, Innovation and Science provides the opportunity to develop an Integrated and Collaborative University-Based Research System firmly anchored in the HEIs and fully co-ordinated with the teaching and learning mission and overall national policy. It should embrace all

¹⁵ See RIA *Higher Education Futures*, aforementioned.

disciplines, encourage social and technological innovation, and be place-based and globally competitive.

- 2. **Regional Knowledge and Innovation Clusters** should form the primary policy instrument for delivering greater co-ordination and collaboration between HEIs and other education providers, business and civic society. As a pathway to competitiveness, they leverage opportunities of place-based strategies and maximising capacity and capability.
- 3. Academic and Research Capacity should be pooled by developing national doctoral programmes which both encourage and build upon institutional specialisations and maximise Ireland's international attractiveness to students, professionals and business.
- 4. An **Internationalisation Strategy** that is comprehensive and inclusive should be developed that widens out opportunities for joint degrees and other international initiatives, and brands and promotes Irish education collectively on a unified national basis.
- 5. The contribution of **Private Higher Education** within the tertiary education system should be recognised and broadened through formal contractual arrangements between government and the institutions for the provision of education and training. Students in PHE institutions should be included in SUSI and other student support programmes.
- 6. Require HEIs to **Develop and Implement Professional Development Plans,** including succession planning for their staff having due regard to the requirement that. recruitment and promotion systems more appropriately reflect equality on grounds of gender, ethnicity and race.
- 7. **Reform Staff Contractual Arrangements** to reflect changes in the academic environment, academic provision and the organisation of academic programming including movement to on-line and blended teaching and learning.

WIDENING EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES AND IMPROVING OUTCOMES

- 8. Sweeping reform of the **Academic Calendar and Programme Provision** should be considered to provide:
 - More flexible education and training opportunities especially for part-time students, delivering on the years-long commitment to lifelong learning which has only very partially been met;
 - Optional expedited completion of programmes and graduation;
 - More focus on work-based/work-informed learning, employability and work placements, competency-based education (CBE) and the new forms of apprenticeship;

- Shorter courses/programmes and new forms of modularised and micro-credential programmes;
- Year-round use of education and training infrastructure with greater porosity between full- and part-time provision.

9. In order to balance demand for further and higher education place a **Cap on the Number of Students Entering Higher Education.** This should be combined with a much enhanced and well-resourced career advice service for second-level students and adults interested in returning to education/training to ensure more informed choices about the options for tertiary education and overcome biases that exist in society. The SOLAS proposals outlined in summary in paragraph 4.11 are also relevant.

10. A **National Credit Accumulation and Transfer System** would create opportunities for learners of all ages and ability to progress through tertiary education by building credits and credentials over time, according to their abilities and circumstances, and carrying them from one programme, or one institution, or form of education and training, to another. This should facilitate students transferring between programmes and/or institutions if circumstances or interests change and bring a new dynamic to the concept of lifelong learning.

11. **Guided and Navigable Learning Pathways** can help facilitate learner progression through tertiary institutions and programmes into work and back again. It is complementary to a National Credit Accumulation and Transfer System. Pathways can provide clear guidance for learners of all ages and abilities in line with the NFQ.

12. In addition to measures to support greater equity of access and participation from students from a wider socio-economic background, the process of **Assessment at Second Level Should Be Reformed** to reduce the singular focus on a high stakes, high pressure leaving certificate which in many respects perpetuates social and economic privilege. It should be replaced with more innovative approaches to assessment that capture the wide range of student learning and achievement.

13. Establish a **National Open and Distance Learning (ODL) Platform,** providing an internationally competitive education and training system, while avoiding the costs and other inefficiencies of institution specific solutions;

STEERING AND FUNDING THE SYSTEM

14. An integrated further and higher education intermediary body to form a **Tertiary Education and Research Authority (TERA),** providing the basis for a more coordinated approach to education and training, research and innovation. The TERA would play a more significant role as the over-arching governance and performance structure for the tertiary system.

15. **Change the Funding Model for Tertiary Education** to support the learners and system we want:

- To encourage greater and wider access into, and through, the tertiary system focus public funding on NFQ Levels 5-7. Students would be eligible for two years of tuition under this proposal;
- To better reflect and encourage flexibility, shift funding away from the number of students enrolled;
- LLL vouchers should provide open pathways for learners to come in and out of the tertiary system;
- To encourage and reward "system-ness" and regional impact and benefit, funding should be directed to/through regional clusters. This requires formal governance structures;

16. Reform the **System Performance Framework**, in terms of what it is trying to achieve, the processes which underpin it and the evaluation criteria and the connection to funding to ensure that it better balances regional, national and global ambitions and undoes the extent to which the exercise has become a bureaucratic exercise, the value of which is being increasingly questioned.

17. Use the reformed performance framework to create a more fully collaborative higher education system which would encourage greater **Programme Specialisation** as a way to reduce inefficient programme duplication, strengthen institutional differentiation and improve efficiency, quality and competitiveness.

DEVELOPING A COMPREHENSIVE INFORMATION INFRASTRUCTURE

18. **A National Digital Platform** would provide a shared digital infrastructure promoting and supporting open access solutions and scholarly and other resources, data and analytics, training, advice and other services for further and higher education and research, libraries and museums (HE, government and public), other public services and society at large. The aim is to ensure Ireland is among the most digitally advanced countries in the world.

19. Develop and resource a **National Shared Services Infrastructure**, providing for areas such as libraries, accommodation, sports facilities, personnel and other back-office services.

20. Expand work on a **Tertiary Education Database** to provide a comprehensive approach to information and data across all dimensions of tertiary education, including the entire cohort of students, graduates and staff, and learning experiences. The aim is to significantly strengthen our collective and individual institutional capacity and capabilities for strategic planning and analytics, student support and outcomes, and benchmarking. This should link with the Research Information Management System, mentioned below.

21. A **National Research Information Management System** based on FAIR (findable, accessible, interoperable, reusable) principles – to store, manage and exchange contextual metadata and enable exchange between institutional research information systems and repositories. It should focus on quality outcomes, impact and benefit for knowledge and for society across all disciplines and the entire knowledge-innovation cycle in order to enable appropriate levels of strategic decision-making and analysis.

6. Abbreviations & Glossary

- ARWU Academic Ranking of World HEIs
- DPER Department of Public Expenditure and Reform
- ESG European Standards and Guidelines
- FE Further education
- HE Higher education
- HEA Higher Education Authority
- HEI Higher education institution
- IoT Institutes of Technology
- LLL Life-long learning
- NFQ National Framework for Qualifications
- ODL Open and distance learning
- OECD Organisation of Economic Cooperation and Development
- PIAAC OECD Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies
- QQI Quality and Qualifications Ireland
- QS QS World University Rankings
- R&D Research and development
- RDI Research, development and innovation
- TES Tertiary education system
- THE Times Higher Education World University Rankings
- TU Technological Universities
- WEF World Economic Forum

7. Endnotes

² Brennan, J., Durazzi, N., & Séné, T. (2013). *Things we know and don't know about the Wider Benefits of Higher Education: A review of the recent literature*. London: Department for Business, Innovation & Skills. p. 18; Green, F., & Henseke, G. (2016). Should governments of OECD countries worry about graduate underemployment? *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, *32*(4), 514–537. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grw024, p. 520-521.

³ Llena-Nozal, A., Martin, N., & Murtin, F. (2019). The Economy of Well-Being: Creating Opportunities for People's Well-Being and Economic Growth. In *OECD Statistics Working Papers*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1787/498e9bc7-en

⁴ Hazelkorn, E. (2020). Relationships Between Higher Education and the Labour Market – A Review of Trends, Policies and Good Practices. Paris: UNESCO.

⁵ Vaira, M. (2004). Globalization and Higher Education Organizational Change: A Framework for Analysis. *Higher Education*, *48*(4), 483–510. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1023%2FB%3AHIGH.0000046711.31908.e5.pdf

⁶ UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division. (2017). *World Population Prospects The 2017 Revision Key Findings and Advance Tables*. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004

⁷ European Commission. (2020). *The Impact of Demographic Change*. Brussels: European Commission. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0217590819500401

⁸ Marginson, S. (2018). *World higher education under conditions of national/global disequilibria* (No. 42). https://www.researchcghe.org/perch/resources/publications/wp422.pdf

⁹ GER (global enrolment rate) is a percentage of the population aged 18-22 years enrolled in higher education.

¹⁰ UNESCO. (2017/2018). *Accountability in education: meeting our commitments*. Global education monitoring report, 2017/18, p. 150-151. UNESCO, Paris. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000259338

¹¹ Calderon, A. (2018). The geopolitics of higher education: pursuing success in an uncertain global environment. In B. Cantwell, H. Coates, & R. King (Eds.), *Handbook on the Politics of Higher Education* (pp. 187–208). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing. p. 187

¹² OECD. (2019). *Education at a Glance*. <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-a-glance-</u> 2019_f8d7880d-en#page2, p. 230.

¹³ Garrett, R. (2020). *Quality & Borderless Higher Education, Trends and Reflections,* presentation at CHEA/CIQG Conference, Washington DC.,

https://www.chea.org/sites/default/files/presentations/Garrett%20-

%20CHEA_borderless%20HE_Jan%202020.pdf; OECD. (2016). Megatrends affecting science, technology and innovation. *OECD Science, Technology and Innovation Outlook 2016*, p. 18.

https://www.oecd.org/sti/Megatrends affecting science, technology and innovation.pdf

¹ European Commission. (2022). *European strategy for Universities*.

https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/commission-communication-on-a-european-strategy-foruniversities; European Commission. (2022). Council Recommendation on building bridges for effective European higher education cooperation (No. COM(2022) 17 final 2022/0008 (NLE)). Strasbourg; European Commission. (2020). Commission Staff Working Document (No. SWD(2022) 6 final COMMISSION). https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/commission-staff-working-document; Hazelkorn, E. and Klemenčič, M. (2022) "Stronger, Inclusive Higher Education at the Heart of Europe" University World News, 20 January 2022. https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20220120133817396

¹⁴ Shah, D. (2018, December 11). *By the Numbers: MOOCs in 2018*. https://www.classcentral.com/report/mooc-stats-2018/

¹⁵ Verbik, L. (2015). The International Branch Campus: Models and Trends. *International Higher Education*, (46), 14–15. https://doi.org/10.6017/ihe.2007.46.7943

¹⁶ OECD. (2015). Education indicators in focus: How is the global talent pool changing (2013,2030)? *Education Indicators in Focus*, pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js33lf9jk41-en

¹⁷ OECD. (2015). Education indicators in focus: How is the global talent pool changing (2013,2030)? *Education Indicators in Focus*, pp. 1–4. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js33lf9jk41-en</u>; OECD. (2019). *Benchmarking Higher Education System Performance*. Paris: OECD Publishing. <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/benchmarking-higher-education-system-performance_be5514d7-en#page3</u>; EU (2020, 22 April) "The EU has reached its tertiary education target", Eurostat. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/10749941/3-22042020-BP-EN.pdf/04c88d0b-17af-cf7e-7e78-331a67f3fcd5</u>

¹⁸ OECD. (2019). Trends Shaping Education 2019. <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/trends-shaping-education-2019_trends_edu-2019-en#page8</u>, p. 18-21; Kharas, H. (2017). The Unprecedented Expansion of the Global Middle Class An Update (No. 100). Brookings Institute website: https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/global_20170228_global-middle-class.pdf

¹⁹ Schleicher, A. (2016). Opening remarks: Higher Education Stakeholder Forum 2016. http://www.oecd.org/edu/skills-beyond-school/andreasschleicherhighereducationstakeholderforum2016-opening.htm

²⁰ Wildavsky, B. (2010). The Great Brain Race. How Global Universities are Reshaping the World. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

²¹ International Organization for Migration (2022) World Migration Report, Grand-Saconnex, Switzerland. <u>https://worldmigrationreport.iom.int/wmr-2022-interactive/</u>

²² R. Watson (2010). *Future Files. A Brief History of the Next 50 Years*. London: Nicholas Brealey Publishing.

²³ Veugelers, R. (2017). The Challenge of China's Rise As A Science And Technology Powerhouse. In *Policy Contribution*. <u>http://bruegel.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/PC-19-2017.pdf</u>; Clarivate. (2019). Clarivate (2019, 19 November). 2019 list reveals top talent in the sciences and social sciences. News. https://clarivate.com/news/global-highly-cited-researchers-2019-list-reveals-top-talent-in-the-sciences-and-social-sciences/

²⁴ European Commission (2022) China's R&D Strategy.

https://knowledge4policy.ec.europa.eu/foresight/topic/expanding-influence-east-south/industryscience-innovation_en; OECD. (2022). *Trends Shaping Education 2022*. <u>https://www.oecd-</u> <u>ilibrary.org/sites/6ae8771a-en/1/3/4/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/6ae8771a-</u> <u>en& csp =c08144de6b681428094a3a71a4549454&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book#section-</u> <u>d1e2913</u>, chpt 3; Duranton, S., Erlebach, J., & Pauly, M. (2018). *Mind the (AI) Gap Leadership Makes the Difference*. <u>http://image-src.bcg.com/Images/Mind_the%28AI%29Gap-Focus_tcm108-208965.pdf</u>; Khan, B., & Gawalt, J. R. (2018). *Science & engineering indicators: 2018*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0040-</u> <u>1625(91)90008-4</u>, p. 38; OECD. (2018). *OECD Science, Technology and Innovation Outlook 2018*. *Adapting to Technological and Societal Disruption*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/ba79a818-it</u>. See also EU, China's R&D strategy, Retrieved 8 July 2020 from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/knowledge4policy/foresight/topic/expanding-</u> <u>influence-east-south/industry-science-innovation_en</u>

²⁵ Weinstein, E. (2022, January 6). Beijing's "re-innovation" strategy is key element of U.S.-China competition. *Brookings Tech Stream*. https://www.brookings.edu/techstream/beijings-re-innovation-strategy-is-key-element-of-u-s-china-competition/?utm_campaign=Brookings Brief&utm_medium=email&utm_content=200305858&utm_source=hs_email ²⁶ Kwiek, M. (2020). What large-scale publication and citation data tell us about international research collaboration in Europe: changing national patterns in global contexts. *Studies in Higher Education*, (January). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1749254</u>

²⁷ Wagner, C. S., Park, H. W., & Leydesdorff, L. (2015). The continuing growth of global cooperation networks in research: A conundrum for national governments. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(7), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131816

²⁸ Salmi, J. (2015). *Study on Open Science: Impact, Implications and Policy Options*. Brussels: European Commission. https://doi.org/10.2777/237283

²⁹ Xu, Xi. (2020, March 21). Hunt for coronavirus cure is making science more open. *University World News*. https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20200318080659671

³⁰ Europa. (2018). Plan S. Accelerating the transition to full and immediate Open Access to scientific publications. <u>https://www.leru.org/files/Plan_S.pdf</u>; Montgomery, L. (2020, July 28). Open access is the new normal: it makes more ways to value research. *Campus Morning Mail*. https://campusmorningmail.com.au/news/open-access-is-the-new-normal-it-makes-more-ways-to-value-research/

³¹ Note actions by the European Commission to strengthen ties to Africa. https://ec.europa.eu/international-partnerships/africa-eu-partnership_en ; MacGregor, K. (2022, February 20). Research at the heart of Europe, Africa's new Innovation Agenda. *University World News*.

³² Leydesdorff, L., Wagner, C. S., Park, H. W., & Adams, J. (2013). International Collaboration in Science : The Global Map and the Network. *El Professional de La Informacion*, *22*, 87–96. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.3145/epi.2013.ene.12

³³ Hazelkorn, E. (2015). *Rankings and the Reshaping of Higher Education: The Battle for world-class Excellence* (2nd ed.). <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137446671</u>.

³⁴ See also Clarivate. (2019). 2019 list reveals top talent in the sciences and social sciences. Retrieved August 14, 2020: https://clarivate.com/news/global-highly-cited-researchers-2019-list-reveals-top-talent-in-the-sciences-and-social-sciences/

³⁵ Hazelkorn, E. (2020). Geopolitics of Higher Education. What do Global University Rankings Tell Us. In Lee, J. (Ed.). (Forthcoming). *U.S. Power in International Higher Education*. New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.

³⁶ OECD. (2014). *Skills Beyond School. Synthesis Report* (OECD Review). https://doi.org/10.1177/0009922813482515

³⁷ Cowen, J., & Morrin, M. (2019). Skills for Jobs that don't yet exist: A new system for the fourth industrial revolution. <u>https://www.respublica.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Skills-for-the-4IR-Report-Final.pdf</u>; Carnevale, A. P., Strohl, J., Cheah, B., & Ridley, N. (2017). Good Jobs that Pay without a BA (p. 32). p. 32. <u>https://goodjobsdata.org/wp-content/uploads/Good-Jobs-States.pdf</u>; Avvisati, F., Jacotin, G., & Vincent-Lancrin, S. (2014). Educating Higher Education Students for Innovative Economies: What International Data Tell Us. *Tuning Journal for Higher Education, 1*(1), 223. https://doi.org/10.18543/tjhe-1(1)-2013pp223-240

³⁸ ILO. (2020). COVID-19 and the world of work. Geneva: International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms_740 877.pdf; Smit, S., Tacke, T., Lund, S., Manyika, J., & Thiel, L. (2020). The future of work in Europe: automation, workforce transitions, and the shifting geography of employment. https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/future-of-work/the-future-of-work-in-europe

³⁹ OECD. (2015). OECD Skills Outlook 2019. Thriving in a Digital World. <u>https://www.oecd.org/education/oecd-skills-outlook-2019-df80bc12-en.htm</u>, p. 164 ⁴⁰ Cedefop. (2018). Insights into skill shortages and skill mismatch: learning from Cedefop's European skills and jobs survey (No. 106). <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/8d1a7959-2284-11e8-ac73-01aa75ed71a1/language-en</u>, p. 21

⁴¹ Eurostat (2021) ICT Specialists – statistics on hard-to-fill vacancies in enterprises, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=ICT_specialists_-_statistics_on_hardto-fill_vacancies_in_enterprises; Vazquez, I. G. (2019). *The Changing Nature of Work and Skills in the Digital Era*. Brussels: Joint Research Centre, European Commission. https://doi.org/10.2760/679150

⁴² Europa (2012). *Global Europe 2050*. Brussels: Directorate-General for Research and Innovation. Retrieved 19 March 2017 from, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/research/social-sciences/pdf/policy_reviews/global-europe-2050-report_en.pdf</u>, p10

⁴³ Stewart, I., Debapratim, D. & Cole, A. (2015). *Technology and People: The great job-creating machine*. London: Deloitte. Retrieved 16 April 2017 from

https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/finance/deloitte-uk-technology-and-people.pdf

⁴⁴ World Bank. (2019). *The Changing Nature of Work*.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/816281518818814423/pdf/2019-WDR-Report.pdf; OECD, & International Labour Organization. (2018). Global Skills Trends, Training Needs and Lifelong Learning Strategies for the Future of Work. 2nd Meeting of the Employment Working Group Geneva, Switzerland, (June). http://www.g20.utoronto.ca/2018/g20 global skills trends and III oecd-ilo.pdf; OECD, & International Labour Organization. (2018).

⁴⁵ Tsai, C. (2014) The Case for Social Innovation Micro Credentials, *Stanford Social Innovation Review Blog.* <u>http://www.ssireview.org/blog/entry/the case for social innovation micro credentials</u>

⁴⁶Tessaring, M., & Descy, P. (Eds.). (2010). *The skill matching challenge. Analysing skill mismatch and policy implications*. <u>www.cedefop.europa.eu</u>; Cedefop. (2010). Skills supply and demand in Europe: medium-term forecast up to 2020. In *Office*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2801/25431</u>; Vandeplas, A., & Thum-thysen, A. (2019). *Skills Mismatch and Productivity in the EU*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2765/954687</u>; Mcguinness, S., Whelan, A., & Bergin, A. (2017). Improving The Employment Prospects Of Graduates: What Can Universities Do ? In *ESRI Research Bulletin*. Dublin, Ireland; van Damme, D. (2018). Dynamics of inequality, convergence and differentiation. *Keynote Presentation, Constructing Higher Education Evaluation Systems for the Global Era, Tsinghua University, Beijing*. Paris: OECD.

⁴⁷ OECD. (2011). OECD Skills Strategy Towards an OECD Skills Strategy. <u>http://www.oecd.org/edu/47769000.pdf</u>, p. 19; OECD. (2015). Education indicators in focus: How is the global talent pool changing (2013,2030)? Education Indicators in Focus, pp. 1–4. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js33lf9jk41-en

⁴⁸ Jaramillo, A., & Melonio, T. (Eds.). (2011). Breaking Even or Breaking Through: Reaching Financial Sustainability While Providing High Quality Standards in Higher Education in the Middle East and North Africa. <u>http://web.worldbank.org/archive/website01418/WEB/0</u> C-287.HTM, p. 18

⁴⁹ Griffith, L. (2017). International Trends in Higher Education, 2016-2017. http://www.ox.ac.uk/sites/files/oxford/trends in globalisation_WEB.pdf, p. 10; Eaton, J. S. (2016). The quest for quality and the role, impact and influence of supra-national organisations. In E. Hazelkorn (Ed.), *Global Rankings and the Geopolitics of Higher Education* (pp. 324–338). London and New York: Routledge.

⁵⁰ Martin, M. (Ed.). (2018). *Quality and Employability in Higher Education: Viewing Internal Quality Assurance as a Lever for Change*. Paris: UNESCO-IIEP, p. 88; Pianko, D. (2016, February 1). Why EQUIP Really Matters. *Inside Higher Ed*. <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/views/2016/02/01/why-new-us-</u> <u>experiment-alternative-higher-ed-models-really-matters-essay</u>; UNESCO. (2014). *Education Systems in ASEAN + 6 Countries : A Comparative Analysis Selected Educational Issues* (No. 5). Bangkok, p. 35; Lowden, K., Hall, S., Elliot, D., & Lewin, J. (2011). *Employers' perceptions of the employability skills of new graduates*. <u>http://www.edge.co.uk/media/63412/employability_skills_as_pdf_-</u> <u>final online version.pdf</u>; Lowden, K., Hall, S., Elliot, D., & Lewin, J. (2011). *Employers' perceptions of the employability skills of new graduates*.

http://www.edge.co.uk/media/63412/employability_skills_as_pdf_-_final_online_version.pdf; P. Sidhu and V.J. Calderon (2014) Many Business Leaders Doubt U.S. Colleges Prepare Students,

http://www.gallup.com/poll/167630/business-leaders-doubt-colleges-prepare-students.aspx; A. Grasgreen (2014, 26 February) Ready or Not, *InsideHigherEd*,

https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2014/02/26/provosts-business-leaders-disagree-graduatescareer-readiness

⁵¹ Wheelahan, L. (2008). *Rethinking Pathways: Why a New Approach is Needed, A report from Australia*. Toronto: Ontario Institute of Studies in Education, University of Toronto

⁵² Green, F., & Henseke, G. (2016). Should governments of OECD countries worry about graduate underemployment? *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, *32*(4), 514–537.

https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grw024; Capsada-Munsech, Q. (2017). Overeducation: Concept, theories, and empirical evidence. *Sociology Compass, 11*(10). https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12518; Machin, S., & McNally, S. (2007). *Tertiary Education Systems and Labour Markets*. Paris: OECD; OECD & ILO. (2018). Global Skills Trends, Training Needs and Lifelong Learning Strategies for the Future of Work. *2nd Meeting of the Employment Working Group Geneva, Switzerland*, (June).

http://www.g20.utoronto.ca/2018/g20_global_skills_trends_and_lll_oecd-ilo.pdf

⁵³ OECD. (2017). Education at a Glance 2017. https://doi.org/10.1787/eag-2017-en, p. 30-32; OECD.
(2016). Skills matter. Further Results from the Survey of Adult Skills. OECD Skills Studies. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264258051-en; Hazelkorn, E., Coates, H., & McCormick, A. C. (2018).
Quality, performance and accountability: emergent challenges in the global era. In E. Hazelkorn, H.
Coates, & A. C. McCormick (Eds.), Research Handbook on Quality, Performance and Accountability (pp. 3–12). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing; Sherriff, L. (2018, August). Ernst & Young Removes University
Degree Classification from Entry Criteria as There's "No Evidence" It Equals Success. The Huffington Post UK. https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/2016/01/07/ernst-and-young-removes-degree-classification-entry-criteria n 7932590.html?utm hp_ref=student-jobs&guccounter=1; McGuire, P., & O'Brien, C.
(2018, December 31). Revealed: the universities most likely to award higher grades. The Irish Times. https://www.irishtimes.com/news/education/revealed-the-universities-most-likely-to-award-higher-grades-1.3744680

⁵⁴ ICEF. (2022, February 16). Forecast projects major growth in international enrolments through 2030. *ICEF Monitor*, p. 3456. https://monitor.icef.com/2022/02/forecast-projects-major-growth-in-international-enrolments-through-2030/

⁵⁵ Wit, H. de, Hunter, F., Howard, L., & Egron-Polak, E. (2015). *Internationalisation of higher education*. Strasburg: European Parliament. https://doi.org/10.2861/6854

⁵⁶ University of Oxford International Strategy Office. (2015). International Trends in Higher Education. *University of Oxford*, 25.

⁵⁷ OECD. (2019). *Education at a Glance*. <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-a-glance-</u> 2019_f8d7880d-en#page25, p. 228-239; NAFSA. (2019). *Losing talent. An Economic and Foreign Policy Risk American Can't Ignore*. Washington D.C: NAFSA.

⁵⁸ Nye Jr, J. S. (1990). Soft Power. Foreign Policy, (80), 153–171; NAFSA. (2019). Losing talent. An Economic and Foreign Policy Risk American Can't Ignore. Washington D.C: NAFSA; van der Wende, M. (1997). Missing Links. The Relationship between National Policies for Internationalisation and those for Higher Education in General. In T. Kälvemark & M. Van Der Wende (Eds.), National policies for the internationalisation of higher education in Europe (pp. 10–41). https://doi.org/10.1145/3097983.3098056

⁵⁹ de Wit, H., & Altbach, P. G. (2021). Internationalization in higher education: global trends and recommendations for its future. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, *5*(1), 28–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2020.1820898 ⁶⁰ ICEF. (2018, August 28). Up and down the table: Growth trends across major international study destinations. *ICEF Monitor*. <u>https://monitor.icef.com/2018/08/up-and-down-the-table-growth-trends-across-major-international-study-destinations/</u>; Bothwell, E. (2020, July 24). Canada "aims to profit" from US deterrent to overseas students. *Times Higher Education*.

https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/canada-aims-profit-us-deterrent-overseas-students

⁶¹ Wit, H. de, Hunter, F., Howard, L., & Egron-Polak, E. (2015). Internationalisation of higher education. In *European Parliament's Committee on Culture and Education*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2861/6854</u>, p. 277; ICEF Monitor. (2018). Up and down the table: Growth trends across major international study destinations - ICEF Monitor - Market intelligence for international student recruitment. *ICEF Monitor*. <u>http://monitor.icef.com/2018/08/up-and-down-the-table-growth-trends-across-major-international-study-destinations/</u>; OECD. (2018). People's Republic of China. *Education at a Glance. Country Note*. http://gpseducation.oecd.org/Content/EAGCountryNotes/CHN.pdf

⁶² Mitchell, N. (2020, March 26). Five years to recover global mobility, says IHE expert. *University World News*. https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20200326180104407

⁶³ OECD. (2019). Education at a Glance. <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-a-glance-2019_f8d7880d-en#page25</u>, p. 231, 234; Perkins, R., & Neumayer, E. (2014). Geographies of educational mobilities: Exploring the uneven flows of international students. *Geographical Journal, 180*(3), 246–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/geoj.12045</u>; Hazelkorn, E. (2016). The Effect of Rankings on Student Choice and Institutional Selection. In B. W. A. Jongbloed & J. J. Vossensteyn (Eds.), *Access and Expansion Post-Massification. Opportunities and barriers to further growth in Higher Education Participation* (pp. 107–128). Abingdon: Routledge.

⁶⁴ Access Economics Pty Limited. (2009). *The Australian Education Sector and the Economic Contribution of International Students*. Australian Council for Private Education and Training; Ross, J. (2018, November 1). Number of Australian universities in deficit doubles. *Times Higher Education*.

https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/number-australian-universities-deficit-doubles; Maslen,

- G. (2020, May 7). Saving Australia's biggest university.
- https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20200507090424381

⁶⁵ Teichler, U. (2017). Internationalisation Trends in Higher Education and the Changing Role of International Student Mobility. *Journal of international Mobility*, 1 (N° 5), p. 177-216. https://www.cairn.info/revue-journal-of-international-mobility-2017-1.htm-page-177.htm; Leask, B. (2013). Internationalization of the Curriculum and the Disciplines: Current Perspectives and Directions for the Future. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *17*(2), 99–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315313486228

⁶⁶ European Commission. (2022). *Council Recommendation on building bridges for effective European higher education cooperation* (No. COM(2022) 17 final 2022/0008 (NLE)). Strasbourg.

⁶⁷ ICEF. (2020, May 20). Canada extends flexible rules for post- graduate work permits through end of year. *ICEF Monitor*; Corkery, A. (2020, 2 August) Unease at "damage done" by Trump administration sees American families invest €1m for Irish residency, *Sunday Business Post*; Helm, t. (2020, 2 August). Brexit fuels brain drain as skilled Britons head to EU, *The Observer*; Bothwell, E. (2020, 24 July). Canada "aims to profit" from US deterrent to overseas students. *Times Higher Education*.

https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/canada-aims-profit-us-deterrent-overseas-students

⁶⁸ Age Platform. (2007). *Lifelong learning - a tool for all ages*. Brussels: The European Older People's Platform.

http://www.google.es/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CDMQFjA A&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.age-

platform.eu%2Fimages%2Fstories%2FEN%2FAGE_leaflet_lifelong_learning.pdf&ei=eFZpU-f9Faem0QXl2YHgBA&usg=AFQjCNFd1nJ2Lt5T3M3-F0lPk09_hhM0sA

⁶⁹ Devlin, M. (2017, February 28). The typical university student is no longer 18, middle-class and on campus – we need to change thinking on 'drop-outs.' *The Conversation*. http://theconversation.com/the-

typical-university-student-is-no-longer-18-middle-class-and-on-campus-we-need-to-change-thinking-on-drop-outs-73509

⁷⁰ Eurostat. (2021). Adult learning statistics, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-</u> <u>explained/index.php?title=Adult_learning_statistics#Providers_of_non-</u> <u>formal_education_and_training_activities</u>.

⁷¹ Centre for the New Economy and Society. (2018). *The future of Jobs Report 2018*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891242417690604

⁷² Stokes, P. J. (2007) Hidden in Plain Sight: Adult Learners Forge a New Tradition in Higher Education, *Issues Paper for Secretary of Education's Commission on the Future of Higher Education*, Washington, D.C. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/hiedfuture/reports/stokes.pdf</u>; Soares, L. (2013) Posttraditional Learners and the Transformation of Postsecondary Education: A Manifesto for College Leaders, Washington, D.C.: American Council on Education. <u>http://www.acenet.edu/newsroom/Documents/Post-traditional-Learners.pdf</u>

⁷³ Salmi, J. (2018). All around the world - Higher education equity policies across the globe. https://worldaccesshe.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/All-around-the-world-Higher-educationequity-policies-across-the-globe-.pdf

⁷⁴ Brown, P., Lauder, H and S. Yi Cheung (2020). *The Death of Human Capital? Its Failed Promise and How to Renew it in an Age of Disruption*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Edelman. (2022). *Edelman Trust Barometer 2022. Global Report* shows developed countries lack economic optimism, p22. https://www.edelman%20Trust%20Barometer%20FINAL_Jan25.pdf

⁷⁵ Atherton, G., Dumangane, C., & Whitty, G. (2016). *Charting Equity in Higher Education: Drawing the Global Access Map.* https://www.pearson.com/innovation/charting-equity.html

⁷⁶ OECD. (2017). Benchmarking Higher Education System Performance: Conceptual framework and data. Paris: OECD. https://www.oecd.org/education/skills-beyond-school/Benchmarking Report.pdf, p. 35-36; Mihut, G. (2021). Does university prestige lead to discrimination in the labor market? Evidence from a labor market field experiment in three countries. *Studies in Higher Education*, *0*(0), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1870949

⁷⁷ Marginson, S. (2018). Equity. In B. Cantwell, S. Marginson, & A. Smolentsva (Eds.), *High Participation Systems of Higher Education* (pp. 151–183). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

⁷⁸ Bastedo, M. N. M., & Gumport, P. J. P. (2003). Access to what? Mission differentiation and academic stratification in U.S. public higher education. *Higher Education*, *46*(3), 341–359. http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A:1025374011204

⁷⁹ Cantwell, B., Marginson, S., & Smolentseva, A. (Eds.). (2018). *High Participation Systems of Higher Education*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; Carnevale, A., Schmidt, P., & Strohl, J. (2020). *The Merit Myth. How our colleges favor the rich and divide America*. Washington D.C: The New Press; Piketty, T. (2020). *Capital and Ideology*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Belkap Press of Harvard University Press, p. 534-543.

⁸⁰ OECD. (2019). *Education at a Glance*. <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-a-glance-</u> 2019_f8d7880d-en#page25, p. 198-201. See also https://www.oecd.org/gender/data/gender-gap-ineducation.htm

⁸¹ Jørgensen, T. (2019). *Digital skills Where universities matter*. https://eua.eu/downloads/publications/digital skills where universities matter.pdf, p. 5

82 Europa. (2019). She Figures 2018. https://doi.org/10.2777/936

⁸³ O'Connor, P., Martin, P. Y., Carvalho, T., Hagan, C. O., Veronesi, L., Mich, O., ... Caglayan, H. (2019).
 Leadership practices by senior position holders in Higher Educational Research Institutes: Stealth power in action? *Leadership*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715019853200</u>; O'Connor, P., O'Hagan, C., Myers, E. S., Baisner, L., Apostolov, G., Topuzova, I., ... Caglayan, H. (2019). Mentoring and sponsorship in higher

education institutions: men's invisible advantage in STEM? *Higher Education Research and Development*, *0*(4), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2019.1686468</u>; O'Connor, P., & Hazelkorn, E. (2022, March 1). Gender bias in higher education is a threat to us all. *The Irish Times*.

https://www.irishtimes.com/news/education/gender-bias-in-higher-education-is-a-threat-to-us-all-1.4806009

⁸⁴ European Commission, Agenda for new skills and jobs, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=958;</u> Vincent-Lancrin, S. (2008). What is the impact of demography on higher education systems? A forwardlooking approach for OECD countries. In *Higher education to 2030: Vol. 1: Demography*, pp. 41–103. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264040663-en

⁸⁵ Hazelkorn, E., & Locke, W. (2021). Blended learning is dead, long live blended learning! *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, *5*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2021.1873348

⁸⁶ Barber, M., Donnelly, K., & Rizvi, S. (2013). *An Avalanche is Coming. Higher education and the revolution ahead*. Institute for Public Policy Research.

http://www.ippr.org/images/media/files/publication/2013/03/avalanche-is-coming_Mar2013_10432.pdf

⁸⁷ Williams, K., Connelly, L., Henderikx, P., Weller, M., & Haywood, J. (2015). *The Changing Pedagogical Landscape. New ways of teaching and learning and their implications for higher education policy*. <u>https://publications.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/edf380ae-7949-11e5-86db-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-search</u>; Henderikx, P., & Jansen, D. (2018). *The Changing Pedagogical Landscape. In search of patterns in policies and practices of new modes of teaching and learning*. <u>https://tinyurl.com/CPLreport2018</u>; Jørgensen, T. (2019). *Digital skills Where universities matter*. https://eua.eu/downloads/publications/digital skills where universities matter.pdf; See also High Level Group on the Modernisation of Higher Education (2013) *Report to the European Commission on Improving the quality of teaching and learning in Europe's higher education institutions*. Luxembourg: European Commission. <u>http://ec.europa.eu/education/library/reports/modernisation_en.pdf</u>

⁸⁸ Garrido, M., Koepke, L., & Andersen, S. (2016). *The Advancing MOOCs for Development Initiative An examination of MOOC usage for professional*. Seattle, Washington.

⁸⁹ UNESCO. (2002). Forum on the Impact of Open Courseware for Higher Education in Developing Countries. UNESCO, Paris, 1-3 July 2002: final report https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000128515

⁹⁰ Daniel, J. S. (2019). Open Universities: Old Concepts and Contemporary Challenges. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 20 (4)195-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v20i3.4035;</u> WENR. (2018, August 14). *Educating the Masses: The Rise of Online Education in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia*. World Education News+Reviews. https://wenr.wes.org/2018/08/educating-the-masses-the-rise-of-online-education

⁹¹ Tehan, D. (2020) Delivery of microcredentials set to be a permanent part of unis, *Australian Financial Review*, 11 April, <u>https://www.afr.com/work-and-careers/education/delivery-of-microcredentials-set-to-be-a-permanent-part-of-unis-20200807-p55jl9;</u> see also initiative of the Business+Higher Education Roundtable and the Higher Education Quality Council of Ontaria (HEQCO) with respect to microcredentials to inform future development and delivery, <u>https://bher.ca/news/bher-and-heqco-partner-on-microcredentials-research-to-improve-skills-development;</u> Fain, P. (2020). Alternative Credentials on the Rise. *Inside Higher Ed.* <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/08/27/interest-spikes-short-term-online-credentials-will-it-be-</u>

sustained?utm_source=Inside+Higher+Ed&utm_campaign=032acf0cce-

DNU 2020 COPY 02&utm medium=email&utm term=0 1fcbc04421-032acf0cce-

<u>197400649&mc_cid=032acf0cce&mc_eid=ad8ca440b3</u>; Usher, A. (2022, February 22). The Evolution of Micro-credentials and Short Courses Search the Blog Enjoy Reading ? *HESA Blog*. https://higheredstrategy.com/the-evolution-of-micro-credentials-and-short-courses/

⁹² The Common Microcredentials Framework (CMF) aims to ensure microcredential courses are built to high quality standards and capable of earning academic credit.

https://epale.ec.europa.eu/en/content/emc-launches-common-microcredential-framework; van Noy,

M., Mckay, H., & Michael, S. (2019). Non-Degree Credential Quality: A conceptual framework to guide measurement. Rutgers Education and Employment Research Center, University of Rutgers; Debowski, H., Sławiński, S., Walicka, S., Poczmańska, A., & Przybylska, B. (2018). Proposed Models of Including Nonformal Sector Qualifications in National Qualifications Frameworks. Report prepared within the NQF-in Project based on an analysis and discussions of the experiences of seven European countries. Warsaw. The New Zealand Qualifications Authority (NZQA) has incorporated microcredentials for credit (5 to 40 credit points) into their qualifications framework, and keeps a register of NZQA approved microcredentials, https://www.nzqa.govt.nz/nzqf/search/microcredentials.do. See also Noonan, P., Blagaich, A., Kift, S., Lilly, M., Loble, L., More, E., & Persso, M. (2019). Review of the Australian Qualifications Framework Final Report 2019. https://www.education.gov.au/australian-gualifications-framework-review-0, p. 12; Usher, A. (2022, February 16). The Opposition to Micro-credentials Search the Blog Enjoy Reading? HESA Blog. https://higheredstrategy.com/the-opposition-to-microcredentials/

⁹³ Crum, A., Mori, K., & Castle, K. (2022, March 3). What we have learned from lockdown about student engagement and achievement? Wonkhe. https://wonkhe.com/blogs/what-we-have-learned-fromlockdown-about-student-engagement-and-achievement/?utm medium=email&utm campaign=Wonkhe Mondays - 7 March&utm_content=Wonkhe Mondays - 7

March+CID_abb1a75cb0e92a855a8b5e37771fab4f&utm_source=Email marketing software&utm term=Ailsa Crum Kate Mori and Kerr Castle take us through the findings

⁹⁴ OECD. (2003). Changing Patterns of Governance in Higher Education. In Education Policy Analysis (pp. 59-78). https://doi.org/10.1787/epa-2003-en

⁹⁵ Dill, D. D. (1998). Evaluating the "Evaluative State": Implications for research in higher education. European Journal of Education, 33(361–377).

⁹⁶ Ferlie, E., Musselin, C., & Andresani, G. (2008). The steering of higher education systems: a public management perspective. Higher Education, 56(3), 325–348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-008-9125-5

⁹⁷ Hazelkorn, E., & Gibson, A. (2019). Public goods and public policy: what is public good, and who and what decides? Higher Education, 78(2), 257-271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0341-3

⁹⁸ European Commission. (2022). Commission Staff Working Document (No. SWD(2022) 6 final COMMISSION). https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/commission-staff-working-document, p18-21.

⁹⁹ Pruvot, E. B., Estermann, T., & Stoyanova, H. (2021). Public Funding Observatory Report 2020/2021 Part 2. https://www.eua.eu/resources/publications/969:public-funding-observatory-2020-2021-part-2.html?utm source=flexmail&utm medium=e-

mail&utm campaign=euanewsletter42021767euanewsletter42021eu20210427t104533060z&utm conte nt=5the+latest+public+funding+observato; Pruvot, E. B., Estermann, T., & Kupriyanova, V. (2020). Public Funding Observatory Report 2020/2021: Part 1: Financial and economic impact of the Covid-19 crisis on universities in Europe. https://eua.eu/downloads/publications/pfo part 1 ppt - im.pdf

¹⁰⁰ European Commission. (2006). Delivering on the Modernisation Agenda for Universities: Education, Research and Innovation (No. (COM) 2006 208 final). https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52006DC0208

¹⁰¹ European Commission. (2011). Supporting growth and jobs – an agenda for the modernisation of Europe's higher education systems. In Communication from the Commission (No. COM(2011) 567 final). http://ec.europa.eu/education/higher-education/doc/com0911 en.pdf

¹⁰² OECD. (2020). *Resourcing Higher Education. Challenges, Choices and Consequences*. p21. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org//sites/735e1f44-

en/1/3/2/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/735e1f44-

en& csp =202a1a6f4fab5e9c9e2fb61b1036af0d&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book#sectiond1e1775

¹⁰³ Chapman, B. (2006) Income Contingent Loans for Higher Education: International Reforms. In Edited by E. Hanuschek and F. Welch (eds.) Handbook of the Economics of Education, vol. 2, p1435-1503. https://econpapers.repec.org/bookchap/eeeeduchp/2-25.htm 68

¹⁰⁴ OECD. (2020). *Resourcing Higher Education. Challenges, Choices and Consequences*. p21. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org//sites/735e1f44-

en/1/3/2/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/735e1f44-

 $en \& _ csp _ = 202a1a6f4fab5e9c9e2fb61b1036af0d \& item IGO = oecd \& item Content Type = book \# section-d1e1775$

¹⁰⁵ Carpentier, V. (2012). "Public-Private Substitution in Higher Education: Has Cost-Sharing Gone Too Far?", *Higher Education Quarterly*, Vol. 66/4, pp. 363-390, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2273.2012.00534.x.

¹⁰⁶ OECD, Inequality. Paris: OECD. http://www.oecd.org/social/inequality.htm

¹⁰⁷ OECD. (2019). Under Pressure: The Squeezed Middle Class. https://doi.org/10.1787/689afed1-en

¹⁰⁸ Algan, Y., Guriev, S., Papaioannou, E., & Passari, E. (2017). The European Trust Crisis and the Rise of Populism. *Brookings Papers on Economy Activity, Fall*. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/02/algantextfa17bpea.pdf</u>; Inglehart, R. F., & Norris, P. (2016). *Trump, Brexit, and the Rise of Populism: Economic Have-Nots and Cultural Backlash* (No. No. RWP16-026). https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2818659

¹⁰⁹ Edelman. (2022). Edelman Trust Barometer 2022. Global Report. <u>https://www.edelman.com/sites/g/files/aatuss191/files/2022-01/2022%20Edelman%20Trust%20Barometer%20FINAL_Jan25.pdf</u>

¹¹⁰ Hazelkorn, E., Coates, H., & McCormick, A. C. (2018). Quality, performance and accountability: emergent challenges in the global era. In E. Hazelkorn, H. Coates, & A. C. McCormick (Eds.), *Research Handbook on Quality, Performance and Accountability* (pp. 3–12). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing; Walker, P. (2014) UK has more graduates but without skills and social mobility to match, *The Guardian*, <u>http://www.theguardian.com/education/2014/sep/09/uk-more-graduates-skills-social-mobility-matchoecd?CMP=new 1194</u>; McGuinness, W. (2013) Half Of Recent College Grads Work Jobs That Don't Require A Degree: Report, *Huff Post*, 29 January,

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2013/01/29/underemployed-overeducated n 2568203.html

 ¹¹¹ Goddard, J., & Kempton, L. (2016). Universities in leadership and management of place. <u>http://www.ncl.ac.uk/media/wwwnclacuk/curds/files/university-leadership.pdf</u>; Goddard, J., Coombes,
 M., Kempton, L., & Vallance, P. (2014). Universities as anchor institutions in cities in a turbulent funding environment: vulnerable institutions and vulnerable places in England. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, 7(2), 307–325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cjres/rsu004</u>; Crow, M. M., & Dabars, W. B.
 (2015). *Designing the New American University*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

¹¹² Brink, C. (2018). *The Soul of the University. Excellence is Not Enough*. Bristol: Bristol University Press

¹¹³ Goddard, J., Hazelkorn, E., Upton, S., & Boland, T. (2018). *Maximising universities' civic contribution. A policy paper*. Cardiff; Day, N., Husbands, C., & Kerslake, B. (n.d.). *Making Universities Matter: How higher education can help to heal a divided Britain*. www.hepi.ac.uk; Farnell, T. (2020). *Community engagement in higher education: trends , practices and policies. NESET report*. <u>https://nesetweb.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/NESET AR1-2020 analytical-report.pdf</u>; UPP Foundation. (2019). *Truly Civic: Strengthening the connection between universities and their places. The final report of the UPP Foundation Civic University Commission*. <u>https://upp-foundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Civic-University-Commission-Final-Report.pdf</u>; Ward, E., & Hazelkorn, E. (2012). Engaging with the Community. In S. Bergan, E. Egron-Polak, J. Kohler, L. Purser, & M. Vukasović (Eds.), *Handbook on Leadership and Governance in Higher Education* (pp. 1–24). Stuttgart: Raabe Verlag; Pinheiro, R., Benneworth, P., &

Jones, G. A. (Eds.). (2012). Universities and Regional Development. London and New York: Routledge.

¹¹⁴ Foray, D., Goddard, J., Beldarrain, X. G., Landabaso, M., McCann, P., Morgan, K., ... Ortega-Argilés, R. (2012). *Guide to Research and Innovation Strategies for Smart Specialization (RIS3)*.

https://doi.org/10.2776/65746; Fotakis, C., Rosenmöller, M., Brennan, J., Matei, L., Nikolov, R., ... Puukka, J. (2014). *The role of Universities and Research Organisations as drivers for Smart Specialisation at regional level* (No. 23 January). https://doi.org/10.2776/70221; Hazelkorn, E., & Edwards, J. (2019). *Skills*

and Smart Specialisation. The role of Vocational Education and Training in Smart Specialisation Strategies. Publications Office of the European Union.

https://s3platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu/documents/20182/81824/Skills+and+Smart+Specialisation+The+role +of+Vocational+Education+and+Training+in+Smart+Specialisation+Strategies/3bf420ed-c7f6-4507-aabea9a2a60901d6; Arancegui, M. N., Jose, M., Querejeta, A., & Montero, E. M. (2011). *Smart Specialisation Strategies: The Case of the Basque Country* (No. Number 2011-R07 (ENG)). San Sebastian.

¹¹⁵ EU, What is RRI? <u>https://www.rri-practice.eu/about-rri-practice/what-is-rri/</u>; https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/h2020-section/responsible-research-innovation

¹¹⁶ Sustainable Development Goals. https://sdgs.un.org/goals

¹¹⁷ OECD. (2017). *OECD Observatory of Public Sector Innovation Working with Change: Systems approaches to public sector challenges*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)1090-0241(2000)126:12(1211);</u> Jaradat, R. M. (2015). Complex system governance requires systems thinking-how to find systems thinkers. *International Journal of System of Systems Engineering*, *6*(1–2), 53–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSSE.2015.068813</u>; Luhmann, N. (2006). System as difference. *Organization*, *13*(1), 37–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350508406059638;

¹¹⁸ Scott, P., Gallacher, J. & Parry, G. (Eds.) (2017). *New Languages and Landscapes for Higher Education*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; OECD. (2020). *Resourcing Higher Education*. *Challenges, Choices and Consequences*. Paris: OECD Publishing; Hazelkorn, E. (2016). *Towards 2030: A framework for building a world-class post-compulsory education system for Wales*.

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/reports/review-of-the-oversight-and-regulationof-post-compulsory-education-and-training-in-wales/?lang=en; New Zealand Productivity Commission. (2016). New models of tertiary education. Overview. Lane, J. E., & Johnstone, D. B. (Eds.). (2013). Higher Education Systems 3.0. Harnessing Systemness, Delivering Performance. Albany, NY, NY: SUNY Press; California State Department of Education. (1961). A Master Plan for Higher Education in California, 1960– 1975. Scott, P. (2009); TCU, The Changing post-secondary landscape, Ottawa, Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities, https://www.tcu.gov.on.ca/pepg/srdc/summary.html

¹¹⁹ Fielden, J. (2008). *Global Trends in University Governance*. Education Working Paper, No. 9. Washington D.C: The World Bank.

¹²⁰ Calhoun, C. (2006). The University and the Public Good. *Thesis Eleven*, *84*(7), 7–43.
 <u>http://www.nyu.edu/ipk/calhoun/files/calhounTheUniversityAndThePublicGood.pdf</u>; Marginson, S. (2011). Higher Education and Public Good. *Higher Education Quarterly*, *65*(4), 411–433.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2273.2011.00496.x</u>

¹²¹ Stoker, G. (2006). Public value management: A new narrative for networked governance? *American Review of Public Administration*, *36*(1), 41–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074005282583</u>; Pruvot, E. B., & Estermann, T. (2017). *University Autonomy in Europe III The Scorecard 2017*. https://eua.eu/downloads/publications/university autonomy in Europe iii the scorecard 2017.pdf; Bozeman, B. (2007). *Public values and public interest: Counterbalancing economic individualism*. Washington DC: Georgetown University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/ap.2009.14</u>; Hazelkorn, E., & Gibson, A. (2019). Public goods and public policy: what is public good, and who and what decides? *Higher Education*, *78*(2), 257–271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0341-3

¹²² Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government (2017) *Ireland 2040. Our Plan. Issues and Choices*. National Planning Framework. Dublin: Irish Government. <u>http://npf.ie/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Position-Paper-Issues-and-Choices-Ireland-2040-web.pdf</u>

¹²³ Ketels, C., & Clinch, J. P. (2020). *Acting now while preparing for tomorrow : Competitiveness upgrading under the shadow of COVID-19*. 1–24. https://www.isc.hbs.edu/Documents/pdf/Preparing for Tomorrow_Country Level_ISC WP version_04-29-20.pdf; Walsh, J. (2018). *Higher Education in Ireland, 1922-2016*. London: Palgrave Macmillan, p. 387-494 especially.

¹²⁴ DES (2015). *Ireland's National Skills Strategy 2025*. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills. <u>https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Policy-Reports/pub_national_skills_strategy_2025.pdf</u> p31 ¹²⁵ Barrett, A., Doorley, K., & Roantree, B. (2020). *Opening Statement to the Senate Select Committee on COVID-19*. <u>https://www.rba.gov.au/speeches/2020/sp-gov-2020-05-28.html</u>; Council, I. F. A. (2020). *Long-term Sustainability Report. Fiscal challenges and risks 2025-2050*. Dublin.

¹²⁶ CSO. (2018). Population and Labour Force Projections 2017 - 2051 – Dublin: Central Statistics Office. https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-plfp/populationandlabourforceprojections2017-2051/

¹²⁷ CSO. (2018). *Population and Labour Force Projections 2016-2046*. Dublin: Central Statistics Office. http://www.cso.ie/en/media/csoie/releasespublications/documents/population/2013/poplabfor2016_2 046.pdf

¹²⁸ DES (2015). *Ireland's National Skills Strategy 2025*. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills. <u>https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Policy-Reports/pub_national_skills_strategy_2025.pdf</u> p40

¹²⁹ CSO (2013). Population and Labour Force Projections, 2016-2046, Dublin: Central Statistics Office. <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-plfp/populationandlabourforceprojections2017-</u>2051/labourforceassumptions/

¹³⁰ Fitzgerald, J. (2021, September 3). Covid effects apparent in CSO population estimate for 2021. *The Irish Times*. https://www.irishtimes.com/business/economy/covid-effects-apparent-in-cso-population-estimate-for-2021-1.4663229

¹³¹ Morgenroth, E. (2018). *Prospects for Irish Regions and Counties: Scenarios and Implications* (No. 70). <u>https://doi.org/10.26504/RS70</u>; CSO (2013, 12 December). Regional Population Projections, 2016-2031. <u>http://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/er/rpp/regionalpopulationprojections2016-2031/</u>

¹³² Fitzgerald, K. (2021, December 15). Irish business evolves with era of hybrid work. *Irish Examiner*. https://www.irishexaminer.com/business/companies/arid-40767159.html

¹³³ Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government (2017). *Ireland 2040. Our Plan. Issues and Choices*. National Planning Framework. Dublin: Irish Government. p12 <u>http://npf.ie/wp-</u> content/uploads/2017/02/Position-Paper-Issues-and-Choices-Ireland-2040-web.pdf

¹³⁴ O'Brien, D. (2015, 12 July). Astounding changes in Ireland's population need scrutiny, *The Irish Times*, <u>http://www.independent.ie/business/irish/astounding-changes-in-irelands-population-need-scrutiny-31369027.html</u>

¹³⁵ Central Statistics Office. (2019). Population Projections Results. *Population and Labour Force Projections 2017 - 2051*. https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/pplfp/populationandlabourforceprojections2017-2051/populationprojectionsresults/

¹³⁶ HEA (2020-2021) Overall Trends in Enrolments. <u>https://hea.ie/statistics/data-for-download-and-visualisations/enrolments/key-facts-figures-2020-2021/</u>

¹³⁷ Department of Education and Skills. (2018). *Projections of demand for full-time third level education:* 2018-2040. <u>https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Statistics/projections/projections-of-demand-for-full-time-third-level-education-2018-2040.pdf</u>, p. 7, 4-5

¹³⁸ HECA (2022) Accessed 06 March 2022 from <u>https://heca.ie</u>

¹³⁹ European Commission. (2020). Education and training monitor 2020. Ireland. <u>https://op.europa.eu/webpub/eac/education-and-training-monitor-2020/countries/ireland.html</u>

¹⁴⁰ OECD. (2021). *Education at a Glance. Ireland Report*. https://www.oecdilibrary.org/docserver/7d62f281-

en.pdf?expires=1644259210&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=3CFDC6CAA39BE917F998958990ED8DE 6

¹⁴¹ OECD. (2019). Education at a glance: Country Note -

Ireland. https://www.oecd.org/education/education-at-a-glance/EAG2019_CN_IRL.pdf, p. 1.

¹⁴² McGuinness, S., O'Shuaughnessy, R. & Pouliakas, K. (2018) Overeducation in the Irish Labour Market. In Cullinan, J. & Flannery, D. (Eds.) *Economic Insights on Higher Education Policy in Ireland. Evidence from a Public System*. (pp. 165-196). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, p. 189.

¹⁴³ OECD. (2019). *Education at a glance: Country Note - Ireland*. https://www.oecd.org/education/education-at-a-glance/EAG2019 CN IRL.pdf, p. 2.

¹⁴⁴ OECD PIAAC. (2013). *PIAAC 2012. Survey Results for Ireland*. Dublin: Central Statistics Office. https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Education-Reports/Programme-for-the-International-Assessment-of-Adult-Competencies-PIAAC-2012-Survey-Results-for-Ireland.pdf

¹⁴⁵ Eurostat. (2020, July 6). Individuals who have basic or above basic overall digital skills by sex. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/tepsr_sp410/default/table?lang=en</u>; Gleeson, C. (2018, May 18). Republic has one of the lowest levels of basic digital skills. *The Irish Times*. https://www.irishtimes.com/business/technology/republic-has-one-of-the-lowest-levels-of-basic-digital-skills-1.3500213

¹⁴⁶ European Commission. (2020). *Education and training monitor 2020. Ireland*. <u>https://op.europa.eu/webpub/eac/education-and-training-monitor-2020/countries/ireland.html</u>

¹⁴⁷ European Commission. (2019). *Education and training monitor 2019. Ireland*. https://doi.org/10.2766/354203, p. 9.

¹⁴⁸ McDermott, C., & O'Callaghan, D. (2019). *The Inactive Working Age Population: A Comparison of Cohort Links to the Labour Market*. http://budget.gov.ie/Budgets/2020/Documents/Budget/The Inactive Working Age Population (A).pdf, p. 1.

¹⁴⁹ OECD. (2021). *Education at a Glance. Ireland Report*. https://www.oecdilibrary.org/docserver/7d62f281-

en.pdf?expires=1644259210&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=3CFDC6CAA39BE917F998958990ED8DE 6

¹⁵⁰ Cullinan, J. & Halpin, B. (2017) A Spatial Economic Perspective on Higher Education Choices. In Cullinan, J. & Flannery, D. (Eds.) *Economic Insights on Higher Education Policy in Ireland. Evidence from a Public System*. (pp. 53-80). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

¹⁵¹ HEA (2020) Graduate Outcomes Survey. Class of 2020. Dublin: Higher Education Authority, https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/; <u>https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/undergraduate-honours-degree-graduates/; https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/postgraduate-taught-graduates/; https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/postgraduate-taught-graduates/; https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/postgraduate-taught-graduates/; https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/postgraduate-taught-graduates/; https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/postgraduate-research-graduates/. Cf. Ryan, Ó. (2018, January 19). Most Irish university graduates are employed in Dublin and Cork. *The Journal.le.* https://www.thejournal.ie/where-are-irish-university-graduates-employed-3804338-Jan2018/</u>

¹⁵² Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. (2020). *Ireland's Industry 4.0 Strategy 2020-2025*. https://dbei.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Irelands-Industry-4-Strategy-2020-2025.pdf

¹⁵³ Eurostat (2021) ICT Specialists – statistics on hard-to-fill vacancies in enterprises, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=ICT_specialists_-_statistics_on_hard-to-fill_vacancies_in_enterprises

¹⁵⁴ Expert Group on Future Skills Needs. (2018). *Digital Transformation: Assessing the Impact of Digitalisation on Ireland's Workforce*. https://www.regionalskills.ie/imagelibary/regional skills - national/publications-/publications-pdf/digital-transformation-assessing-the-impact-of-digitalisation-on-irelands-workforce.pdf; National Skills Council, & Expert Group on Future Skills Needs. (2020). *Together for Design. Digital, Product and Strategic Design Skills of the Future*. <u>http://www.egfsn.ie/expert-group-on-future-skill-group/all-publications/2020/together-for-design.pdf;</u>

¹⁵⁵ Barrett, D. (2018). Dominant Cities in Small Advanced Economies: Challenges and Policy Responses. Dublin: Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. https://igees.gov.ie/wpcontent/uploads/2019/03/Dominant-Cities.pdf
¹⁵⁶ Horgan-Jones, J. (2020, May 7). Irish public's trust in institutions during Covid-19 above EU average. *The Irish Times*. <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/news/ireland/irish-news/irish-public-s-trust-in-institutions-during-covid-19-above-eu-average-1.4247273</u>; Eurofound. (2018). *Societal Change and Trust in Institutions*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2806/70123</u>; Edelman. (2022). *Edelman Trust Barometer 2022. Global Report*. <u>https://www.edelman.com/sites/g/files/aatuss191/files/2022-01/2022%20Edelman%20Trust%20Barometer%20FINAL_Jan25.pdf</u>

¹⁵⁷ Pope, C. (2020, August 22). Irish people have a distorted view of the realities of their country. *The Irish Times*. https://www.irishtimes.com/culture/tv-radio-web/irish-people-have-a-distorted-view-of-the-realities-of-their-country-1.4334996

¹⁵⁸ Clancy, P. (2015). Irish Higher Education. A Comparative Perspective. Dublin: IPA. p197-198

¹⁵⁹ European Commission. (2020). *Education and training monitor 2020. Ireland*. <u>https://op.europa.eu/webpub/eac/education-and-training-monitor-2020/countries/ireland.html</u>

¹⁶⁰ Eurostat. (2021). Adult learning statistics, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-</u> <u>explained/index.php?title=Adult_learning_statistics#Providers_of_non-</u> <u>formal_education_and_training_activities</u>

¹⁶¹ Data provided by the HEA, August 2020.

¹⁶² National Forum for T&L. (2020). *INDEx Irish National Digital Experience Survey*. <u>https://www.teachingandlearning.ie/wp-content/uploads/NF-2020-INDEx-Report.pdf</u>, p. 9.

 ¹⁶³ HEA (2022) Graduate Outcomes Survey. Class of 2020. Dublin: Higher Education Authority, <u>https://hea.ie/statistics/graduate-outcomes-2020/</u>; HEA. (2020). Graduate Outcomes Survey Class of 2018. <u>https://hea.ie/assets/uploads/2020/06/HEA-Graduate-Outcomes-Survey-Class-of-2018.pdf</u>, p. 60

¹⁶⁴ Groarke, S., & Durst, C. (2019). *Attracting and retaining international higher education students: Ireland* (No. 88).

https://static.rasset.ie/documents/news/2019/05/attractingandretaininginternationalstudents.pdf; ICEF. (2019, June 11). Ireland: Number of non-EEA students in higher education jumps by 45 % over five years. *ICEF Monitor*. https://monitor.icef.com/2019/06/ireland-number-of-non-eea-students-in-higher-education-jumps-by-45-over-five-years/; Clarke, M., Yang, L. H., & Harmon, D. (2018). *The Internationalisation of Irish Higher Education*. Dublin: IRC and HEA.

¹⁶⁵ HEA. (2021). *Key Facts & Figures 2020-2021*. <u>https://hea.ie/statistics/data-for-download-and-visualisations/enrolments/key-facts-figures-2020-2021/</u>

¹⁶⁶ HEA (2019) Student Demographics, All HEA-Funded HEIs, https://hea.ie/statistics/data-for-downloadand-visualisations/enrolments/student-demographics-2018-19/

¹⁶⁷ HEA (2018) Higher Education Institutional Staff Profiles by Gender. Dublin: Higher Education Authority, <u>https://hea.ie/assets/uploads/2018/01/Higher-Education-Institutional-Staff-Profiles-by-Gender-2018.pdf</u>; UL (2020, 9 July) University of Limerick appoints first ever woman president of an Irish university, <u>https://www.ul.ie/presidents-office/news-centre/news/university-limerick-appoints-first-ever-woman-president-irish-university</u>

¹⁶⁸ OECD. (2021). *Education at a Glance. Ireland Report*. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/7d62f281-</u>

<u>en.pdf?expires=1644259210&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=3CFDC6CAA39BE917F998958990ED8DE</u> <u>6</u>; Report of The Expert Group on Future Funding for Higher Education. (2016). *Investing in National Ambition: A Strategy for Funding Higher Education*. https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Policy-Reports/Investing-in-National-Ambition-A-Strategy-for-Funding-Higher-Education.pdf

¹⁶⁹ O'Brien, C. (2021, September 15). Covid-19: Universities in deficit as commercial losses climb to € 270m. *The Irish Times*. <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/news/education/covid-19-universities-in-deficit-ascommercial-losses-climb-to-270m-1.4674868?mode=sample&auth-failed=1&pworigin=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.irishtimes.com%2Fnews%2Feducation%2Fcovid-19-universities-in-deficitas-commercial-losses-climb-to-270m-1.4674868; IUA (2020) Partners in the recovery: Enabling Irish</u> Universities to Support Re-booting Ireland. Dublin: IUA. See also <u>https://www.rte.ie/news/2020/0503/1136316-covid-19-universities/</u>

¹⁷⁰ Saisana, M., D'Hombres, B., & Saltelli, A. (2011). Rickety numbers: Volatility of university rankings and policy implications. *Research Policy*, *40*(1), 165–177.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733310001812; https://www.study.eu/bestuniversities/ireland

¹⁷¹ Hollanders, H., Es-Sadki, N., Merkelbach, I., & Khalilova, A. (2020). *European Innovation Scoreboard* 2020. https://doi.org/10.2873/168

¹⁷² Gorey, C. (2020, November 19). 28 Ireland-based researchers named among world's elite scientists. *Silicon Republic*, p. 2020. <u>https://www.siliconrepublic.com/innovation/33-irish-based-researchers-elite-scientists</u>; Clarivate. (2019). 2019 list reveals top talent in the sciences and social sciences. https://clarivate.com/news/global-highly-cited-researchers-2019-list-reveals-top-talent-in-the-sciences-and-social-sciences/

¹⁷³ Li, M., Shankar, S., & Tang, K. K. (2011). Why does the USA dominate university league tables? *Studies in Higher Education*, *36*(8), 923–937.

¹⁷⁴ Williams, R., & Leahy, A. (2020). *U21 Ranking of National Higher Education Systems 2020*. https://universitas21.com/sites/default/files/2020-04/U21_Rankings Report_0320_Final_LR Single.pdf; https://universitas21.com/sites/default/files/2018-03/2012%20full%20report.pdf

¹⁷⁵ Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. (2020). *Higher Education Research & Development Survey 2018-2019*. <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/00d67-higher-education-research-and-development-survey-2018-2019/</u>

¹⁷⁶ Holmes, R. (2020, July 25). *How will the COVID-19 crisis affect the global rankings? University World News*. https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20200720134734809 ; Hazelkorn, E. (2020 Forthcoming). Are Rankings (Still) Fit for Purpose. In H. van't Land et al. (Eds.), *International higher education cooperation through the International Association of Universities*. Palgrave McMillan/Springer Nature.

¹⁷⁷ Marinoni, G., Land, H. Van, & Jensen, T. (2020). *The Impact of Covid-19 on Higher Education Around the World. IAU Global Survey Report*. <u>https://www.iau-</u>

<u>aiu.net/IMG/pdf/iau_covid19_and_he_survey_report_final_may_2020.pdf</u>, p. 27-28; Stacey, V. (2020, July 7). DAAD lays bare Covid-19 impact on mobility. *The PIE News*. <u>https://thepienews.com/news/daad-survey-lays-bare-impact-of-covid-on-student-mobility/</u>; Bothwell, E. (2020, August 4). US "faces minimum 30 per cent decline" in international enrolment. *Times Higher Education*.

https://www.timeshighereducation.com/news/us-faces-minimum-30-cent-decline-international-enrolment

¹⁷⁸ Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. (2018). *Enterprise 2025 Renewed: Building resilience in the face of global challenges*. Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. https://dbei.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Enterprise-2025-Renewed.pdf

¹⁷⁹ Government of Ireland. (2018.). *Project Ireland 2040. Building Ireland's Future.* Dublin. https://assets.gov.ie/7335/7692660a70b143cd92b1c65ee892b05c.pdf

¹⁸⁰ Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. (2018). *Enterprise 2025 Renewed: Building resilience in the face of global challenges*. Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. https://dbei.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Enterprise-2025-Renewed.pdf

¹⁸¹ Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. (2018). *Enterprise 2025 Renewed: Building resilience in the face of global challenges*. Dublin: Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation. https://dbei.gov.ie/en/Publications/Publication-files/Enterprise-2025-Renewed.pdf

¹⁸² SOLAS. (2020). *Future FET: Transforming Learning*. Dublin: SOLAS. https://www.solas.ie/f/70398/x/64d0718c9e/solas_fet_strategy_web.pdf

¹⁸³ Higher Education Strategy Group. (2011). *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030*. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills.http://www.hea.ie/files/DES_Higher_Ed_Main_Report.pdf

¹⁸⁴ Department of Education and Skills (2016). Irish Educated Globally Connected: An international education strategy for Ireland 2016-2020. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills. http://www.educationinireland.com/en/Publications/International-Education-Strategy-2016_2020.pdf

¹⁸⁵ Department of Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation (2015). *Innovation 2.0. Ireland's strategy for research and development, science and technology*. Dublin: Department of Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-02583-0

¹⁸⁶ HEA. (2015). *National Plan for Equity of Access to Higher Education 2015-2019*. Dublin: Higher Education Authority. https://hea.ie/assets/uploads/2017/06/National-Plan-for-Equity-of-Access-to-Higher-Education-2015-2019.pdf

¹⁸⁷ RIA (2021) Higher Education Futures. Dublin. <u>https://www.ria.ie/policy-and-international-</u>relations/higher-education-and-research-policy/higher-education-futures

¹⁸⁸ IUA. (2020) Irish Universities Help Fight the Covid-19 Pandemic. Dublin: Irish Universities Association <u>https://www.iua.ie/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Irish-Universities-Help-Fight-COVID-19-Pandemic-May-2020-spreads.pdf</u>; HEA. (2020) Higher Education Research Activity in response to Covid-19, <u>https://hea.ie/2020/05/27/higher-education-research-activity-in-response-to-covid-19/</u>; THEA (2020), Here's How We're Helping. <u>http://www.thea.ie/covid-19-helping/</u>

¹⁸⁹ Report of the Strategy Group (2011). *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030*. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills. https://www.education.ie/en/publications/policy-reports/national-strategy-for-higher-education-2030.pdf. p. 74.

¹⁹⁰ Report of the Expert Group on Future Funding for Higher Education (2016). *Investing in National Ambition: A Strategy for Funding Higher Education*. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills. p19. <u>http://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Policy-Reports/Investing-in-National-Ambition-A-Strategy-for-Funding-Higher-Education.pdf</u>; Hogarth, T. (2021). COVID-19 and the demand for labour and skills in Europe: Early evidence and implications for migration policy. In *Issue Brief*. <u>https://www.migrationpolicy.org/sites/default/files/publications/mpie-hogarth_covid19-labour-final.pdf</u>; Murray, S. (2020, February 28). Skills shortage: Irish employers urgently need more trained and experienced workers. *Irish Examiner*. https://www.irishexaminer.com/news/spotlight/arid-40811664.html

¹⁹¹ Mahon, E. (2017, 17 April) Census is a demographic wake-up call, *The Irish Times*.

¹⁹² Department of Housing, Planning, Community and Local Government (2017). *Ireland 2040. Our Plan. Issues and Choices*. National Planning Framework. Dublin: Irish Government. p9 <u>http://npf.ie/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/02/Position-Paper-Issues-and-Choices-Ireland-2040-web.pdf</u>

¹⁹³ SOLAS (2020) *Future FET: Transforming learning. The National Further Education and Training (FET) Strategy 2020-2024*. Dublin: SOLAS.

https://www.solas.ie/f/70398/x/64d0718c9e/solas_fet_strategy_web.pdf

¹⁹⁴ European Commission. (2020). Communication on achieving the European Education Area by 2025. (SWD(2020) 212 final). <u>https://ec.europa.eu/education/sites/default/files/document-library-docs/eea-communication-sept2020_en.pdf; https://education.ec.europa.eu/about/strategic-framework</u>

¹⁹⁵ See also Noonan, P., Blagaich, A., Kift, S., Lilly, M., Loble, L., More, E., & Persso, M. (2019). *Review of the Australian Qualifications Framework Final Report 2019*. <u>https://www.education.gov.au/australian-gualifications-framework-review-0</u>, p. 12.

¹⁹⁶ <u>https://hea.ie/statistics/; https://studentsurvey.ie; https://hea.ie/2022/03/01/hea-statistics-newsletter-quarter-1-2022/</u>

¹⁹⁷ <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/8bf5f-minister-harris-publishes-the-higher-education-research-and-development-survey-2018-2019/</u>

¹⁹⁸ <u>https://www.nsf.gov/statistics/srvyherd/</u>

¹⁹⁹ The development and evaluation of research should be guided by relevant international frameworks, such as the DORA and the Leiden Manifesto. See also Expert Group on Assessment of University-Based Research. (2010). *Assessing Europe's University-Based Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2777/80193</u>; Wilsdon, J., Bar-Ilan, J., Frodeman, R., Lex, E., Peters, I., & Wouters, P. (2017). *Next-generation Metrics. Report of the European Commission Expert Group on Altmetrics*. <u>https://doi.org/10.2777/337729</u>; Wouters, P., Ràfols, I., Oancea, A., Caroline, S., Kamerlin, L., Britt, J., & Jacob, M. (2019). *Indicator Frameworks for Fostering Open Knowledge Practices in Science and Scholarship*. https://doi.org/10.2777/445286

²⁰⁰ https://www.gov.ie/en/consultation/2b85a-national-research-classification-system/

²⁰¹ European Commission. (2020). Commission Staff Working Document (No. SWD(2022) 6 final COMMISSION). <u>https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/commission-staff-working-document;</u>
 European Commission. (2022). Council Recommendation on building bridges for effective European higher education cooperation (No. COM(2022) 17 final 2022/0008 (NLE)). Strasbourg; European Commission. (2022). European strategy for Universities. https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/commission-communication-on-a-european-strategy-for-universities

²⁰² For example, ETER, U-Multirank, DEQAR, Eurostudent, Eurograduate, Bologna implementation reports data and Mobility Scoreboard, Eurostat, Education and training statistics and R&D statistics and JRC KT Metrics Platform

²⁰³ European Commission. (2022). *Commission Communication on a European strategy for universities* (No. COM(2022) 16 final). <u>https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2186</u>. p15

²⁰⁴ Ó' Súilleabháin, Gearóid; Farrelly, Tom; and Lacey, Seán, "Dataset on Student Experiences and Perceptions of Emergency Remote Teaching (ERT) in an Irish University" (2021). *Open Research @ MTU* [online]. <u>https://doi.org/10.34719/wsrs-0j15</u>

²⁰⁵ USI. (2020). Student priorities for the new Government. <u>https://usi.ie/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Student-Priorities-for-the-Next-Government-Final.pdf</u>; Neves, J., & Hewitt, R. (2020). The Student Academic Experience Survey 2020. <u>https://www.hepi.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/The-Student-Academic-Experience-Survey-2020.pdf</u>, p. 60; Choksi, A., & Rosenhaus, C. (2020). *Global Learner Survey*. https://www.pearson.com/content/dam/one-dot-com/one-dot-com/global/Files/news/gls/Pearson_Global-Learners-Survey_2020_FINAL.pdf

²⁰⁶ See Observatory for Borderless Higher Education,

http://www.obhe.ac.uk/who_we_are/about_the_observatory, accessed 14 July 2020.

²⁰⁷ Commonwealth of Learning. (2020). Guidelines on Distance Education during. http://oasis.col.org/bitstream/handle/11599/3576/2020 COL Guidelines Distance Ed COVID19.pdf?se guence=4&isAllowed=y; See also QQI guidelines on blended learning: https://www.qqi.ie/Publications/Publications/Statutory%20QA%20Guidelines%20for%20Blended%20Lea rning%20Programmes.pdf. These complement core QA guidelines: https://www.qqi.ie/Downloads/Core%20Statutory%20Quality%20Assurance%20Guidelines.pdf;

²⁰⁸ Hazelkorn, E., & Locke, W. (2021). Blended learning is dead, long live blended learning! *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, *5*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2021.1873348

²⁰⁹ Supiano, B. (2020, August 28). How the Pandemic Is Pushing Professors to Improve Their Pedagogy. *Chronicle of Higher Education*. https://www.chronicle.com/article/how-the-pandemic-is-pushing-professors-to-improve-their-

pedagogy?utm_source=Iterable&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=campaign_1481936_nl_Academe -Today_date_20200831&cid=at&source=ams&sourceId=68259&cid2=gen_login_refresh

²¹⁰ HEA. (2019). *Proceedings of the HEA Future Focus Forum Digital transformation and empowering technologies in higher education*. https://hea.ie/assets/uploads/2017/04/PP-0819-Future-Focus-Forum-19.02.19-Proceedings.pdf

²¹¹ For example, see: McKenzie, L. (2020, August 4). University of Arizona's Big Online Push. *Inside Higher Ed*, p. 20036. <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/08/04/university-arizona-acquires-ashford-university?goal=0_1fcbc04421-64e3c438c8-235169821&mc_cid=64e3c438c8&mc_eid=762a5d443f; Lieberman, M. (2019, January). Purdue's Online Strategy, Beyond "Global." *Inside Higher Ed*. https://www.insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2019/01/09/purdue-prepares-online-expansion-support-newly-acquired-profit</u>

²¹² Fogarty, S., & MacNamee, D. (2020). Irish Colleges to Struggle to "Compete" with Online Teaching, Warns SFI Chair. *University Times*. <u>https://www.universitytimes.ie/2020/05/irish-colleges-to-struggle-to-compete-with-online-teaching-warns-sfi-chair/</u>

²¹³ Movhan, S. (2020, June 20). How Much Does It Cost to Develop an online course? *Raccoon Gang*. https://raccoongang.com/blog/how-much-does-it-cost-create-online-course/

²¹⁴ CSO (2019) Business in Ireland. Dublin: Central Statistics Office. <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-</u> <u>syi/statisticalyearbookofireland2019/bus/businessinireland/</u>; European Commission. (2020). 2019 SBA Fact Sheet Ireland. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01535102

²¹⁵ Mulgan, G., Townsley, O., & Price, A. (2016). *The challenge-driven university: how real-life problems can fuel learning*. https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/the_challenge-driven_university.pdf

²¹⁶ Mulgan, G., Tucker, S., Rushanara, A., & Sanders, B. (2007). *Social Innovation. What it is, Why it matters and How it can be Accelerated*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2007.10.015</u>; see also NESTA, <u>https://www.nesta.org.uk</u>

²¹⁷ Higher Education Research Group. (2021). *Ireland's Higher Education Research System*. <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/36a37-review-of-irelands-higher-education-research-system-higher-education-research-group/</u>, p9

²¹⁸ Morgenroth, E. (2018). *Prospects for Irish Regions and Counties: Scenarios and Implications* (No. 70). https://doi.org/10.26504/RS70

²¹⁹ Hazelkorn, E., & Edwards, J. (2019). *Skills and Smart Specialisation. The role of Vocational Education and Training in Smart Specialisation Strategies*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union https://s3platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu/documents/20182/81824/Skills+and+Smart+Specialisation+The+role +of+Vocational+Education+and+Training+in+Smart+Specialisation+Strategies/3bf420ed-c7f6-4507-aabe-a9a2a60901d6

²²⁰ Reichert, S. (2019). *The Role of Universities in Regional Innovation Ecosystems*. Brussels: European University Association; Schwartz, K. (2020, May 4). Crisis and Adaptation for the Public Good. *Stanford Social Innovation Review*. <u>https://ssir.org/articles/entry/crisis_and_adaptation_for_the_public_good;</u> European University Association. (2014). *Report on joint EUA- REGIO/JRC Smart Specialisation Platform expert workshop: The role of Universities in Smart Specialisation Strategies*.

http://www.eua.be/Libraries/Publication/EUA Seville Report web.sflb.ashx; Arancegui, M. N., Jose, M., Querejeta, A., & Montero, E. M. (2011). Smart Specialisation Strategies: The Case of the Basque Country (No. Number 2011-R07 (ENG)). San Sebastian; Day, N., Husbands, C., & Kerslake, B. (2020). Making Universities Matter: How higher education can help to heal a divided Britain (No. 125). www.hepi.ac.uk; OECD. (2007). Higher Education and Regions: Globally Competitive, Locally Engaged. Paris.

²²¹ European Commission. (2022). *European strategy for Universities*.

https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/commission-communication-on-a-european-strategy-foruniversitiesHEIs; European Commission. (2022). Council Recommendation on building bridges for effective European higher education cooperation (No. COM(2022) 17 final 2022/0008 (NLE)). Strasbourg; European Commission. (2020). Commission Staff Working Document (No. SWD(2022) 6 final COMMISSION). https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/commission-staff-working-document.

²²² Indecon. (2020). *International Education Strategy Review, 2016-2020*. Dublin: DFHERIS. https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/3fac2-review-of-international-education-strategy-2016-to-2020/

²²³ Piggot, V. (2020, 3 July) Enrolment and Graduate 5-Year Trends. Dublin: HEA.

https://hea.ie/2020/07/03/enrolment-and-graduate-5-year-trends/; Indecon. (2020). *International Education Strategy Review, 2016-2020*. Dublin: DFHERIS. <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/3fac2-review-of-international-education-strategy-2016-to-2020/</u>, p.ix.

224 https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

explained/index.php?title=Learning mobility statistics#Credit mobile graduates; https://eterproject.com/uploads/assets/pdf/ETER_student_mobility.pdf

²²⁵ Hudzik, J. (2011). *Comprehensive Internationalization: From Concept to Action*. Washington, D.C: NAFSA. <u>https://shop.nafsa.org/detail.aspx?id=116E</u>;

²²⁶ de Wit, H., & Altbach, P. G. (2021). Internationalization in higher education: global trends and recommendations for its future. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, *5*(1), 28–46.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2020.1820898</u>; Altbach, P. G., & de Wit, H. (2020, March 14). COVID-19: The internationalisation revolution that isn't. *University World News*.

https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20200312143728370; Brandenburg, U., Wit, H. de, Jones, E., & Leask, B. (2019, April 20). Internationalisation in Higher Education for Society. *University World News*. https://doi.org/10.6017/ijahe.v7i2.12891; Dobson, G., & Edersheim, K. (2021, October 16). Networks can improve international student experience. *University World News*. https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20211013101404820

²²⁷ European Universities Initiative, https://ec.europa.eu/education/education-in-the-eu/european-education-area/european-universities-initiative_en

²²⁸ QQI includes reference to regional collaboration in its guidelines for institutes of technology (p.5) but not universities; Recognising and promoting research impact increasing significant for IRC and SFI; Knowledge Transfer Ireland (KTI) responsible for measuring research impact: collaboration, patents, licensing, start-ups, etc. See also Woolford, J., & Boden, M. (Eds.). (2021). *Higher Education for Smart Specialisation. A Handbook*. https://s3platform.jrc.ec.europa.eu/w/higher-education-for-smartspecialisation-a-handbook-1

²²⁹ Clark, B. R. (1998). Creating Entrepreneurial Universities. Organizational Pathways of Transformation. In *Issues in Higher Education*. Paris: International Association of Universities and Pergamon Publishers.

²³⁰ VSNU, NFU, KNAW, NWO and ZonMw (2019). *Room for everyone's talent*. https://www.vsnu.nl/recognitionandrewards/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Position-paper-Room-foreveryone's-talent.pdf

²³¹ The Chilean President originally proposed to close private universities, but given the economic crisis, has now focused on greater regulation. <u>http://www.buenosairesherald.com/article/217371/chile-gov%E2%80%99t-to-present-controversial-education-bill</u>

²³² Report of the Strategy Group (2011) *National Strategy for Higher Education to 2030*. Dublin: Department of Education and Science.

http://www.hea.ie/sites/default/files/national_strategy_for_higher_education_2030.pdf

²³³ Report of the Expert Group on Future Funding for Higher Education (2016) Investing in Ambition. A Strategy for Funding Higher Education. Dublin: Department of Education and Skills. <u>https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Policy-Reports/Investing-in-National-Ambition-A-Strategy-for-Funding-Higher-Education.pdf</u>

²³⁴ Hazelkorn, E. (2020) Have too many people been left behind, post-secondary? *University World News*,
 14 November. <u>https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20201111143351960</u>

²³⁵ OECD (2020) *Education Policy Outlook, Ireland*. Paris: OECD. p3. <u>https://www.oecd.org/education/policy-outlook/country-profile-Ireland-2020.pdf</u> ²³⁶ HEA (2016, 23 November) Private Providers: What Role Should They Play in the Irish Higher Education Landscape? Forward-Look Forum, Dublin. <u>https://hea.ie/assets/uploads/2017/04/6th_hea_forward-look_forum_discussion_paper.pdf</u>

²³⁷ See https://www.suny.edu

²³⁸ Cedefop. (2009). *Individual learning accounts* (No. 163). Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. <u>https://www.cedefop.europa.eu/files/5192_en.pdf</u>. See examples of lifetime credit initiatives: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/news/2019/05/backgrounder-canada-training-benefit.html; https://www.skillsfuture.sg/Credit</u>

²³⁹ European Commission. (2020). *Education and training monitor 2020. Ireland*. <u>https://op.europa.eu/webpub/eac/education-and-training-monitor-2020/countries/ireland.html</u>

²⁴⁰ HEA (2015) National Plan for Equity of Access to Higher Education 2015-2019. Dublin: HEA. https://hea.ie/assets/uploads/2017/06/National-Plan-for-Equity-of-Access-to-Higher-Education-2015-2019.pdf

²⁴¹ OECD. (2020). *Resourcing Higher Education. Challenges, Choices and Consequences*. Paris: OECD Publishing.

²⁴² Report of The Expert Group on Future Funding for Higher Education. (2016). *Investing in National Ambition: A Strategy for Funding Higher Education*. https://www.education.ie/en/Publications/Policy-Reports/Investing-in-National-Ambition-A-Strategy-for-Funding-Higher-Education.pdf

²⁴³ Byrne, E., & Clarke, C. (2020). *The University Challenge. Changing Universities in a changing world*.
Harlow: Pearson Education Limited; Crow, M. M., & Dabars, W. B. (2015). *Designing the New American University*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press; Goddard, J., Hazelkorn, E., Kempton, L., & Vallance, P. (2016). *The Civic University: The Policy and Leadership Challenges*.

https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784717728; B. Wildavsky, A. P. Kelly and K. Carey (2011) *Reinventing Higher Education. The Promise of Innovation*. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press; Choksi, A., & Rosenhaus, C. (2020). *Global Learner Survey*. https://www.pearson.com/content/dam/one-dot-com/one-dot-com/global/Files/news/gls/Pearson_Global-Learners-Survey_2020_FINAL.pdf

Published by:

BH Associates – Education Consultants Website: <u>https://www.bhassociates.eu</u> Email: info@bhassociates.eu

